MOUNT CARMEL

%ﬂﬁmc 7e /;/«7.’(/0/:/“ 2607

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING AGENDA

August 28, 2025 - 5:30 P.M.
City Hall, 100 Main Street E.

1. Callto Order

2. Invocation

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4, Roll Call

5. Welcome from the Mayor

6. Employee Recognition- Carl Calton for 30 years of service in Public Works (August 30, 1995)

7. Approval and/or Correction of the minutes of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen Meeting dated July 24,
2025, monthly financial report, and department reports.

8. Visitors' Comments:

9. Old Business:

A.

SECOND READING: Ordinance 25-542: Municipal Court Costs

10. New Business:

D.
E. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Acceptance of Bid for FY26 Street Paving- Glass Machinery &

F.

G.

A. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Amendment to Personnel Policies and Procedures (Rev. 2025)
B.
C. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-656 Participation in Public Entity Partners Property

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-655 Fees, Fines, Rates, & Costs

Conservation Grant
DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-657 Participation in National Opioid Settlement

Excavation, Inc.

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Acceptance of Bid for Fire/Police Parking Lot Paving- Watts Paving
& Maintenance, Inc.

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Acceptance of Bid for WWTP Improvements Phase 1B- Morgan
Contracting, Inc.

11. Board Comments: Mayor, Vice-Mayor, Aldermen, Staff Comments: City Manager, Asst. City Manager,
City Attorney

12. Adjourn



UBWIDP[V ‘SSOI) sotnef
UeULIOP[Y {ooisurg dId
UBULISOP[Y ‘Mednys Aputin

UBUISPIY YoLyed Aqre(

UBWISPIY ‘WL Wif

JOARIA 0TA ‘oreg wif

JOARIA ‘uosqro) uyof

‘IISSIUNA |, ‘[OULIE)) JUNOJA] JO UAMO ], 3} JO UDULIIP[Y 7 JOAR{ JO PIeog] 1]} JO Jjey2( uo

CT0T ‘08¢ ISNIny — ¢G61 ‘0 ISnIny
SSHIO AL DT[N UL SUIAIIS 3d40[dwio pones pue pajeaipop e se

301AIAS OT[qnd JO sIed£ ()@ INOA FULIOUWOY PUR SUIZIUT0III IJRILILIdD ST} Jdoooe ased|J

aojfey) [1e)
uonrAddE ¥ IN01IS Ngnek 1o AP

[rX 444 us\.\%\a\.wuxa\ 22 UQVVQ\%

"THINJ VD LNOOW




MOUNT CARMEL

A place Ze put dewrn docll
# #

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING MINUTES

A regularly scheduled meeting of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee Board of Mayor and Aldermen
was held at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 East Main Street, on July 24, 2025, at 5:30 p.m.

CALL TO ORDER
5:30 pm by Mayor John Gibson

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Led by Sue Jarrett (Mount Carmel Senior Citizen’s Center) and Alderman Shugart

ROLL CALL:

BMA Present | Absent City Administration Present
Alderman Darby Patrick Jim Stables, City Manager
Alderman James Cross Allen Coup, City Attorney
Alderman Mindy Shugart Tyler Williams, Asst. City Manager/CFO/Recorder
Alderman Philip Binstock
Alderman Jim Gilliam
Vice-Mayor Jim Bare v
Mayor John Gibson

ANIANANANAN

AN

WELCOME FROM THE MAYOR
Mayor Gibson welcomed everyone

APPROVAL and/or correction of the June 26, 2025, Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting
minutes, departmental and financial reports.

Motion: Alderman Shugart

Second: Alderman Binstock

Approved: All present voting in favor

VISITOR COMMENTS
Sue Bolenbaugh- spoke regarding speeding concems and the width of Hammond Ave

Tamara Harrington- spoke regarding speeding on Hammond Ave and the need for an
additional exit on Valley Crest Drive



OLD BUSINESS
NONE

NEW BUSINESS
A. FIRST READING: Ordinance 25-542: Municipal Court Costs

Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Philip Binstock

ANIANENI NN

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare Absent

<

Mayor John Gibson

B. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Wastewater Rate Study Contract with MTAS

Motion: Alderman Binstock
Second: Alderman Shugart

AYES NAYS OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

ANIRNIRNIRN

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman Jim Gilliam v

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare Absent

<

Mayor John Gibson

ADJOURN
Motion: Alderman Shugart at 5:47 P.M.
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: All present voting in favor

Approve:

John Gibson, Mayor
Attest:

Tyler Williams, City Recorder



MOUNT CARMEL

S place B prol oonrt dect

FINANCIAL REPORT

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TN

Month ending 07/31/2025

GENERAL FUND: BALANCE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $672,913.12
LGIP Investment Account $6,477,258.76
Capital Outlay Savings (First Horizon) $101,395.40
TOTAL: $7,251,567.28

DRUG FUND: BALANCE:
Drug Fund Checking (First Horizon) $15,615.11
Special Drug Fund (First Horizon) $0.00
TOTAL: $15,615.11

SEWER FUND: BALANCE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $870,681.89
Savings/Bond Reserve 2014 (First Horizon) $106,135.14
Savings/Sewer Savings 2014 (First Horizon) $35,003.82
LGIP Investment Account $500,820.83
TOTAL: $1,512,641.68
GRAND TOTAL CASH ON HAND: $8,779,824.07

Current Savings Rate: 3.20%
Current LGIP Rate: 4.28%



%TL'E6 9/'558'9t (e vp1'e) (747 d¥)] 00'000°05 S350 puy sauld UnaD AID 0T1SE
%00'00T 0005 000 000 000§ S82IAIRS 104 Sabuey) - [0.U0D) [BWIUY 0TSbE
%00°00T 00°008 00°0 000 00°008 334 NOLLVAID 13011 3 0zevE
%00'00T 00°000°€€ 00'0 000 00°000°€E Penuo) AemybiH 21815 0TEbE
%00"005- (00"005'0) (00°000°€) (00'000°€) 00005 anusASY Juawpedaq d1|od T2LE€
%00°001 00°000°0T 000 000 00°000°0T aNUIASY JuswHedad a4 (\[4%3
%00°00T 00°00S 000 000 00°'00S suoneuo( Aleiqr 6TLEE
%0000T 00°000'S 00'0 000 00°000'S AQuno) woy wei T1/€€
%00°00T 00°000°0C 00°0 000 00°000°02 SJUSWILIBA0D AJUNOD WO SIURID 01/£€
%00'001 00°000°0T 00°0 000 00°000°0T bumagsHods 765€€
%00°007T 00°000'89 000 00°0 00'000°89 sexel JO Nar Ul sjuswiAed eAl 1655€
%S6'68 9/'8¥T'C (Za1d] (re'150) 00°00SC uoneziuispo uonexodsuel| 855€€
%I'16 Lb'LT9'bE (es'zLe'e) (g5 zL€'e) 00°000'8€ Xe] auljosen 2)elg 45733
%90°'T6 0T'STS'ZPT (08'¥8H'vT) (08'¥86'+1) 00°000°29T anuaAsY pIY 123115 33815 185¢€
%00°00T 00°00tC 000 000 00°00b'2 Xe| 123g ajels 0£5€€
%eC'T6 62'ST15'879 (1£'v8v°09) (1£¥8v09) 00°000'689 Xe| S3es els 0TSE€
%00°00T 00°000°0T 00'0 00°0 00°000°0T 12-0ZAd ALMIGYSIA IH OSHO 62PEE
%00'00T 00°000'002 000 000 00°000°002 INYHD 4dd7 31VLS 4233
%00'00T 00°008'v 00°0 00°0 00'008'% Aed Jusws|ddng 33e15 0ThEE
%S59°'16 S/'129'07 (sz'8/8'T) (s2'8/8'T) 00°005¢e eijuo) |esod T61€€
%00°00T 00°000°0€T 000 00°0 00'000°0€T aNUBARY JueID JWOH 06TEE
%00°00T 00°000°0T2 000 000 00°000'01¢ ueID uonebmIW plezeH YiNId oTIEE
%00°00T 0000002 00°0 000 0000002t sjuern juswdofpAsg AHUNWWOD 0TTEE
%1049 §9'569'S (S€'v08'0) (se'%08'0) 00°00S'8 sHwIRd Bulpying o192€
%00°05 007052 (00'052) (00°052) 00°005 sasu20r afelansg Jljoyodly 0ozze
%00°001 00°000°09 00'0 000 00'000'09 xe|. asiydueld AL 3|qed 2161¢
%E6'T6 €8 TIT'TS (£1'888'€) (£1'888°€) 00°000'S5 Xe| 1939 9|esa|oym 0TL1€
%S8'26 6v'58L'ThL (1s'v12£8) (15'v1225) 00°000°008 Xe| s3|es {e307] 0191€
%60°56 00'8ze’'s (o0'zLm) (00'zT) 00'00S’€ xe]_doid uQ 350D HNOD puy ‘Isausiul 00€T€
%00'007 000000 000 000 00°000/0% (s1ed4 Jolnd) saxel Auadold 00Z1€
%08°66 00°0S0°6€5°T (00'060°€) (00'060°€) 00'0bT2hS T (uaun)) saxe) Apadold 00T1€
pazijeayun % pazijealun pazijesy LA pazijeay AL pojewnsy jeol

%EE’'8 aAneledwo) Ajyauopy pun4 [eisuag : pung
40 T abed szoz AIng

Wd 7§:T S20T/ET/8 sl /aleq A1) - saNUBADY JO JUBWISLELS :Aq pajeasd
Sweip 19jAL HELT,] Jow.e) JUNOj JO UMO]L

SONUSASY JO JUBWNEIS DO :oweN ajejdwial



%9€'96 TH'956'68L'Y (6S"€8T'IST) (65°€8T'18T) 00°0bT'1L6'Y OTT :pund.tod [ejoL
%08'06 £9'9T€T (£geeT) (zegeT) 00'0S¥'T SNUBATY SUOREDIUNWIWOIB[SL 1669¢
%20'L6 8/'659'ch (zz'ove'n) (zeove'T) 00'000'St SANUAATY SNO3Ue||33sii 0669¢
%P 16 ¥8'829'v/T (91°1£8'50) (91'1££'5D) 00°000'00€ sbujuseg 1saseug 0019€
%00°00T 00°000'T 00'0 000 00'000'T S3S0) puy sauld Uno) Ajuno) 0915€
%8('86 96'S69vT (H0'p0€) ($0°v0£) 00'000's¢ JUBWRDI04UT PRadS 0104d XSPPAY [4453
pazijeayun % pazijeatun pazijeay dlA pazijeay Al palewns3 |jejol

%EE'8 aaneiedwo) Ajyjuop pun4 jelauss OTIT : pung
40 ¢ obed S20zZ AInC

Wd Z5:T SZ0T/E1/8

SWe||IM J3JAL

2w /ajeq

£31) - sanuanay jo Juswajels
[ouLIe) JUNO JO UMOL

291 iAq pagean)

SSNUSASY JO JuUBWIeIS DO :awep a3ejdwa)]



%00'00T 00°00S°LE 00°0 00'0 00700S°LE £ZT ‘pund.of|ejol
%00°00T 00°00S'9€ 000 000 00°00S'9¢ suonnqrauc) bnig 00¢s€
%00°00T 00°000'T 00°0 000 00°000°T saul4 palelsy bnuq Ob1SE
pazijeajun % pezijealun pazijeay dlA pozijeay Al pejeuwnsy jejoL

%EE'8 aAneledwo) Ajyjuop pung bnig ZZT :pund
¥ Jo € abed §20z AInc

Wd 7S:T S§202/€1/8 2w /ajeq K1) - sanuaAdy Jo Juswels I :Aq pa3eal)
SWeIIM J9JAL 3sn joune) Junop Jo UMo}

S3NUBASY JO JusWaleIs Do) :aweN a3ejdwal



%TE 96 78'T0T'€98'C (81°£65'60T) (81°£65'60T) 00°00£'TL6'T TIP :pund lod [ej0L
%00"00T 00001 00'0 00°0 00°00T Jomas - snoaue|as!i 662LE
%00°00T 00°000°0T 00°0 000 00°000°0T 5994 de| Jamas 962.E
%00°007T 00°058’829'T 00°0 00°0 000588291 vy S6C/E
%28'L9 09'¥€0°C (ob"596) (0t'596) 00°000°€ s9a4 Gununodoy ¥6TLE
%S6'16 00'998'/61'T (00°+88'%0T) (00+88'%0T) 00°0S£'20€'T sabueyn DIAIRS JoMaS 012LE
%Z9'98 T sT've (8L't¥1'E) (8L:1¥1's) 00°000°82 sbulules 3sa1au] 0019€
pszijeayun % pozijealun pozijeay AlA pozijeay dlW pejewns3 |10l

%EE'8 aAnelredwo) Ajyuop pund Jomas TIP :pund
¥ 4o ¢ obed szoz Ainc

Wd 25T 5202/€1/8

swelfim JIAL

2wl /areq

A1) - SONUIAIY JO JudWIBEYS
[ounIe) JUNO JO UMO]L

091 :Aq pajess)

SSNUSASY JO JUBLIRIEIS DO :aweN ajejdwial



00'0 000 00°0 20JRWIWOY JO J2queyD 0D suimeH
00°0 %00°0 (00'005'2) 00°0 (00°005'0) (00'0052) veL
000 000 000 uoieuod suaziy) Joiuss
000 %00°0 (00"000°€€) 000 (00"000°€€) (00°000°€€) €L
000 000 00'0 fouaby a01nosoy uewnH N1 st
00°0 %00°0 (00°005'2) 000 (00°005°D) (00005'2) (44
00°0 000 00'0 Pusia JuswidolpAsq UL Isiid
000 %000 (00°092's€) 00°0 (00°09/'s€) (00°09£'s€) 0L
00°0 00°0 000 sebley) a0lnaS yueg
09'621'1 %ESL (0v'0£8'€T) 09'621'T (00°000°ST) (00°000°ST) 169
00°0 000 00'0 $150)) |esieiddesy
000 %00°0 (00'000'6) 000 {00°000°6) (00°000'6) 168
00°0 000 00°0 soueINSUT
00°6S5°0TT %5188 (00" TH'pT) 00°6S5°0TT (00'000°s2T) (00"000°52T) 018
00°0 000 000 SIDIAIBS UOHEDIUNWILIOD JBUIQ Puy SuoydappL
00°0 %000 (00'000"0) 00'0 (00'000'0) (00°000°0) 124
000 000 000 SN
00°0 %000 (00°000'8T) 00°0 (00°000°8T) (00°000°8T) (124
00°0 000 000 uonefRy dlland
00°SLP'ET %ET'8Y (00°525"vT) 00°SLP'ET (00°000'87) (00'000'82) 9¢€T
00°0 000 000 sanq
000 %000 (00"005'%) 000 (00'005"p) (00°005'%) SET
000 000 000 10AR pUy UPWLISPIY JO S994
S€'858 %ET'9 (S9'THT'ET) SE'858 (00°000'vT) (00°000°T) 191
000 000 00'0 oueInsuT Juawiojdwaun
00°S 196png oN 00°S 00°'S 00°0 00°0 Vaas
000 000 000 (4eys sgeholdw3) 1seQ
£9'S9 326png oN £9'S9 £9'S9 000 000 848
JUBWUIDAOY) [eidUdD (Q00TH
souelquindugy pasn % a|qejieAy spungd saoueiquinoug 396png |ejolL Ssjuswpuawy Palqo J9jua) aiqo
/1enpy [seinmypuadx3 /196png [euibLQ qns 150D
ali ala

%EE’S :2Aieledwio) AjYyjuop OIT :pund
9T Jo T 2bed szoz Aing
Wd €5:T S20T/ET/8 2wl /a1eq seduelquinoug pue sainjipusdxy Jo Juswialels M iAq pajeasd
Sweljim AL HEL ] {owie) JUnoy Jo umol aInjipuadx3 Jo Juswels IO

:3wep Iejdwa)



00°0 00°0 000 SBOIAIBS GOM
000 %000 (00'ov1'e) 000 (oo'ovT'e) (o0'ov1'E) LT2
00°'0 00°0 00°'0 SSIIAIRG JaUIBIU]
000 %000 (00"00£'T) 000 (00'00€'T) (00'00€'T) 91z
000 00'0 00°0 JoAe|y puy Uewlaply JO sead
00°0ST 396png oN 00°0ST 00°0ST 00°0 000 191
00'0 00°0 000 Buiurel] puy uoneonp3 ssojdws
00'0 %000 (00°000°2) 00°0 (00'000%2) (00°0002) 8vT
00'0 00'0 00°0 2ouelnsuy JuswAojdwaun
0£'96 %88'H1 (0g'€ss) 04796 (00°059) (00°059) LbT
000 00°0 000 uonesuadulo) s,uswiopm
000052 %00'00T 00°0 00°005'Z (00°005°2) (00°005'2) 9T
00'0 00°0 00'0 uejd juswia.13ay daAojdwi
8/'6/9'T %EE6 (zz'0ze'on) 8/°6/9'T (00"000°8T) (00°000°8T) £l
00°0 000 000 soueinsut sakojdw3
¥1°209'S %ES'TT (98'266'2h) ¥1°209'S (00°009'8%) (00°009'8%) wl
0070 000 000 (a1eys suafoldw3) IseQ
S£'989'T %/6'9 (59°€15'22) S€°989'T (00°002'v'2) (00°002°v2) w1
00°0 000 00°0 snuog seuwsiyd
00°0 %000 (00°009D) 00°0 (00°009D) (00°009'27) veT
00'0 00°0 00°0 sabew
86'579'vC %0L'L (z0ve1's60) 86'579'%C (00°05£'61€) (00°052'61€) 114!
uonellsiulpy [epueuld  00STY
000 000 000 juawdinb3
000 %000 (00°000'52) 00°0 (00°000°52) (00°000'52) 0b6
000 000 00°0 juels awoH
00°0 %000 (00°000°0€T) 000 (00"000°0€T) (00'000°0ET) 064
00°0 00°0 00°0 (EMRIv]
0070 %000 (00°009°T) 000 (00°009°T) (00009'T) 9zL
Juelqundug posn % slqejieAy spung saduelqumuy jobpng |ejol spudwpuswy 33[q0 J9jUl) Palqo
/tendy [saanypuadx3 /196png [eulbLIQ qns 350D
ain ala
0%EE'8 :aAneledwo) Ajyjuop OTIT : pund
9T 4o 7 3bed szoz Aing
Wd £5:T S202/€1/8 2wl /ajeq ssouelquIndug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswlels 29 :Aq pazeasd
Swiel||Ip JolAL esn [owie) JuUnopy Jo umo] ain)puadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :aweN jejdwal



00°0 000 000 SNoaue[33sI
€THel %9/'T (LLsz€') XA A (00°005") (00°00S'¥) 6/t
00'0 00°0 000 sal|ddns samog Asuld
00'0 %000 (00'002'2) 000 (00°002'D) (00°002'2) e
00’0 000 00°0 abejsod puy salddns 2310
00°0 %000 (00°005°8) 00°0 (00°005°8) (00°005'8) 01€
00'0 000 00°0 394 UOISSILIWOD
000 %000 (007005'2) 000 (00°005'0) (00°005'0) 861
00°0 000 000 {oAel]
90°LLY %9€'9 (v6'2202) 90°LLY (00'005"2) (00°0052) 08¢
00'0 000 00°0 sBulpjing adueuajulely puy Jledsy
00'v£2C %68"¥T (00'99£'21) 00'beEL’e (00°000°ST) (00'000°ST) 997
00'0 000 000 sadiaIRs Buluoz puy Bujuueld
000 %00°0 (0o0'gze’or) 000 (00'cze’sr) (00'€zT’oT) 152
000 00°0 00°0 Uoddng alemyos/siemple Jaindwo)
0v'825'8T %98t (09'T2t'61) 0b"825°8T (00'000°8€) (00°000'8€) 114
000 000 000 s34 Bunipny puy Bununody
0086/ %LLT (007202"tv) 00°86Z (00'000°S¥) (00°000°S+) £5¢
000 000 00°0 SRS [eba
000 %000 (00°000's€) 000 (00°000°5€) (00°000'5€) [AT4
000 000 00°0 SIS [@21PAA
00'0 %000 (00°002) 000 (00°002) (00°002) 152
00°0 00°0 000 abpnc A
00°00b %EE'8 (00"00p'%) 00°00b (00°008y) (00'008'%) 0sZ
00'0 000 000 BuisisApY
00°0 %000 (00'000°€) 000 (00°000°€) (00'000°€) L£2
00°0 000 000 uopely 21gnd
00°0 %00°0 (00°000°S) 000 (00°000's) (00°000°S) 9£T
000 000 00°0 sang
000 %000 (00°005'8) 00°0 (00°005'8) (00°005’8) x4
aouesquniug pasn % ajqe|ieAy spung saouelquinoug job6png |ejol sjuswpuswy Pa2(qo ud) Pfqo
/lempy /sainjipuadx3y /1e96png jeuiblLp qns 350D
aim dlA

0%EE'8 13Aneledwo) Ajyluop OTT :pun4
97 4o ¢ abed szoz Aing
lWd €S:T S20T/ET/8 awiL /a3eq sadueiqWINoug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswajels D1 iAq pajeasd
SWRIIM JIJAL 19sN [swie) Junop Jo umol

ainypuadxg Jo Juswajels Ho :aweN ajejdws]



000

000 00°0 woo3
00°0 %00°0 (00°00+'T) 00°0 (00%00t'T) (00'00t'1T) 612
00°'0 00°0 000 S8IIAIRS JBUIBIU]
000 %00'0 (00°000'T) 0070 (00°000'T) (00'000°T) 9TC
00°0 000 00'0 Buuter] puy uopednpg saAojdw
00°005'T %EE'8 (00°005'91) 00°005'T (00°000°8T) {00°000°81) 8b1
00°0 000 00'0 @ouelnsut JuswAiojdwaun
62’8 %SL'T (sT'16D) S.'8 (00°00S) (00°00%) Yad!
000 00°0 000 uojjesuadwo)) s,usunop
00°T99'8 %8T2L (00'6££'€) 00'199'8 (00°000°2T) (00°000°2T) 91
00°0 00'0 00°0 ue|d jJuswa.Ry svkojdwz
18°/5¥'C %61°8 (61°2b5'20) 18'/5bC (00"000°0€) (00°000°0¢) vl
000 000 00°0 SouelInsuI sakojdwg
96'S0T'S %9.°CT (b0v68'PE) 96'S0T'S (00°000°0t) (00°000°0t) wl
000 000 000 (1eysS s,lakojdwiz) 1seQ
0TbSE'e %6S5°L (08°'5¥9'80) 0Z'bSE‘e (00°000°1€) (00'000'1€) b1
00°0 00°0 000 snuog Sewisuyd
0070 %00°0 (00°00£'€) 000 (00'00£'€) (00°00£'€) PET
00°0 00°0 000 S962M SWIHAAQ
£€°765'€ %96°LT (£9'£0b'9T) £€'265°C (00'00002) (00'000'02) 44!
00°0 00°0 000 sobem
0T'128'6¢C %60°L (06'825'06€) 0T'TZ8'%6e (00°00t"02h) (00"00t'02t) 4!
juswyedsq 3dijod  00TZH
00°0 00°0 000 juswdinb3 Aloddns/1endwo) MaN
00°0 %000 (00°000') 00'0 (00"000°s) (00°000'S) L¥6
00°0 000 00°0 yuswdinby
00°0 %000 (00°000't) 0070 (0o’000't) (00'000'%) 0v6
0070 00'0 00°0 Ja1do) asea bunesado
80'6L %LT'S (z6'02v'T) 80°6/ (00°005°T) (00°005'T) S79
aoueaqunougy Pasn % ojqejieay spuny sIouRIqUINDOUY obpng |eioL sjuswpuswy P3(qo Jajua) P3(qo
/lenpy [seimypuadx3 /396png jeuiblQ qns 350D
dain alA
%EE'S ‘annesedwo) Ajyauop B eapli
9T Jo t/ dbed szoz Aing
INd €6:T 5202/€1/8 :awyl /e1eq seduelquindu3l pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswalels 91 :Aq p=apeal)
SwelfjIpm J9jAL 19sN [owie) JuUno Jo umojl alnypuadx3 Jo Juswsle)s Do awep Ijejdwa]



00°0 000 00°0 asuadx3 olpey
00°0 %00'0 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00°000'T) 9¢€
00°0 000 000 asuadx3 jond
00°0 %00°0 (00°000'02) 000 (00°000'02) (00'000°02) 1€€
000 000 000 asuadxg bunelado spIYaA
06'6TZ %88'C (o1°082'v0) 06'6TZ (00'00052) (00°000°57) 0€€
00°0 000 000 SAddNS 13X011-3
00°0 %00'0 (00'008) 000 (00°008) (00'008) 6¢¢
0070 000 000 suuojun puy Buigod
8£'864'1 %96'6€ (z9'10£'0) 8€'86/'1 (00°005"%) (00°00S"¥) 9z¢
00°'0 000 000 S1S9A Joo.d 13Ing
00°0 %000 (00'52L4'E) 00'0 (00'522'€) (00°5££'€) 743
00'0 000 000 sa|iddns Bunesado
00'0 %000 (00"000°0T) 000 (00'000°0T) (00°000°0T) 1743
000 000 000 abejsod puy saiddns 30140
000 %000 (00°000'%) 000 (00°000'%) (00°000'%) 01€
000 000 00°0 SOIAIDS |eNIDRUO)
000 %000 (00°00£'2) 000 (00"00€'2) (00'00£'D) 06¢
000 000 000 [oARLL
000 %000 {00"005'2) 000 (00°005'0) (00'0052) 08z
000 00°0 000 sBulpfing SdueudjuRK puy Jledsy
00°0 %000 (00"000°s) 000 (00°000'%) (00°000's) 99z
00'0 00°0 00°0 voddng aiemyos/aiempleH Jandwio)
00°005'9 %00°G9 (00°005€) 00°005'9 (00*000°01) (00 000°0T) 174
000 000 000 SIVIAIRS [eDIPBIA
000 %00°0 (00°009) 000 (00'009) (00°009) 15¢
000 00'0 000 S2DIAIDS UOEDIUNWIWOD) 13Y30 puy auoydsfsl
0070 %000 (00°000'9) 00°0 (00°000'9) (00'000°9) 24
000 000 000 sang
00°0 %000 (00'00¢€) 00°0 (00°00€) (00°00€) S€T
asuelqundug pasn % a|qejieay spung saouelquinduy 3eb6png |ejol sjudwIpuaWy P{q0 Iaqua) P=(q0
/lenmpy /seimypuadx3 /2e6png |euibl10 qns 150D
ain ala

%EE'S raAReledwo) Ajyiuop oTT :pund
9T Jo G obed szoz AInc
Wd £5:T S202/€1/8 awiL /areq SsdueIqUINDUT pue saimipuadx3 Jo Judwlels 291 :Aq pageald
SuIel[lIp JRIAL 19sN [owe) JUnop Jo0 UmoL aimipuadx3 Jo Juswlels D9 :awep ajejdwal



0070 00°0 00°0 apeled/suone|ay 21jqnd
000 %000 (00°000°S) 00'0 (00°000's) (00°000°s) 8£T
00°0 000 00'0 sand
00°0 %00'0 (00°005) 000 (00°008) (00°005) 174
00°0 000 00°0 fuiuiel| puy uonednp3 sioldw
000 %00°0 (007000°8) 000 (00°000'8) (00°000'8) 8b1
000 000 000 2oueINSUT JuswAojdwiaun
Sz'8t %95t (s18¢) ST'81 (00 00%) (00"00%) ags
000 000 00'0 uonesuadwo)) s,uswopm
00°00C°¢ %00°00T 0070 00°002'¢ (00°002'€) (00"002'€) 9b1
00'0 000 000 ue|d Juswanay sakojdwy
15202 %86'T (6b'z62'01) 16°£0¢ (00°005°0T) (00°005°0T) 54
00°0 00°0 00°0 (31eys sJaholdwil) IseQ
TT695 %Lb'S (8£:0£8'6) 22695 (00°00b'0T) (00 00%'0T) 12!
00°0 00°0 000 snuog sewsuy)
00°0 %00'0 (00°006'T) 000 (007006'T) (00°006'1) bET
000 00°'0 000 sobem
86'0vh'/ %TS'S (zo612'22T) 86'0bt'/ (00°091'5€T) (00°097'5€T) ¥4
juswpedag 214 00ZZP
00°0 00°0 00'0 uawdinby
00°0 %00°0 (00*000°0tT) 000 (00°000°0%T) (00"000°0%T) 0b6
00°0 00°0 000 12-07 Ad INVYS ALTIIEISIA TH OSHL
00°0 %000 (00'000°0T) 000 (00°000°0T) (00 000°01) S0L
00'0 00'0 00°0 J91do) asea buperdo
9/°€§ %8E'S (tz'ov6) 9/'€§ (00'000'T) (00°000'T) §79
000 000 000 sabieyD Aiayes yo 3deg
SL'Ty %Eb'T (sz°£56'2) SLT (00°000°€) (00°000°€) 095
00°0 00°0 00°0 snoauejjaos|iy
00°05¢ %£9°9T (00'052'T) 007052 (00°005'T) (00°005'T) 6Lt
aduelqunduz pasn % alqejieAy spung sasuelqunoug jobpng [ej01 sjusaWpudWy Palqo I3jua) 31qo
/1enppy [sainyipuadx3 /196png euiblLo qns 350D
dlnW alA
%EE'8 :3Aneledwo) AjUIUol OTT : puny
97 Jo 9 abeg szoz Ang
Wd £5:T S20T/€1/8 :owil/33eq sedueIqWINdU] pue sainjipuadxy Jo Jusawalels D91 :Aq pejeas)
SWeljIM AL HELTS] |owie) JUNOjy JO UMOL 2Injipuadxy Jo usweIS DO ewep Aejdwal



00°0 000 000 juswdinb3 yuswyedaq iy
60'€82'€ %89 (16'91L'tP) 60°E8T'E (00°000°8%) (00"000°8Y) vbe
000 000 000 asuadxg olpey
00°0 %00'0 (00°000's) 000 (00'000°s) (00'000°s) 9g€
000 000 00'0 asuadxg [any
000 %000 (00'000°9) 000 (00'000'9) (00°0009) 1€€
00'0 000 000 asuadxa Bupesado dPIYRA
000 %000 (00°000°0€) 000 (00°000°0€) (00°000'0¢€) oge
00°0 000 00°0 suuopun puy Bulyiod
8Y'E1T %CT'L (z5'982'D) 8b'ETT (00"000°€) (00°000°€) 143
00°0 00'0 000 salddng bunetadQ
00°0 %000 (00'000°€) 000 (00"000°€) (00°000°€) 1143
00°0 000 000 abejsod puy saiddns 2210
00'0 %00°0 (00°000°T) 000 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 01€
00°0 00°0 00'0 S3DIAIBS [ENPEUC)
000 %000 (00°000°2) 000 (00°0007) (00°000'2) 062
000 000 000 Bunsal eyso
000 %000 (00'005°0T) 000 (00°005'0T) (00"00s°0T) 182
00°0 000 000 [onel]
00°0 %000 (007000'1) 000 (00°000'T) (00"000'T) 082
00°0 000 000 sbulping adueusjuey puy Jleday
PE'ELS %Eb'T (99'97¥'6€) pE'eLS (00'000°0t) (00"000°0%) 997
000 00°0 000 voddng alemyos/aiempie Jsindwo)
00'0 %00°0 (00°005'p) 00°0 (00°00s'Y) (00°005'p) (174
00°0 000 000 S20IAIDS [2DIP3IA
00°0§ %0005 (00°05) 00705 (00'001) (00"001) 152
00°0 000 00°0 SEDIAIBS UOHEIIUNWILIOD JBL30 puy SuoydafaL
00°0 %000 (00'008) 000 (00°008) (00 008) SHT
00'0 000 000 semaN
0070 %000 (00'000°6) 000 (00°000°6) (00"000°6) 0¥T
aduesquiniug pasn % a|qejieAy spung saduUeIqUINOU] 3ebpng jejol sjudwWpusawWy Pa[qo Jojua) Palqo
/1lemdy /seanypuadx3 /396png |euwiblLIO qns 150D
aluW dlA

%EE'8 :aAesedwo) Ajyauop OIT :pung
9T Jo £ abed szoz Alnc
Wd €5:T S202/€1/8 2wl /a3eq seduelquInoug pue sainjipuadxl Jo Juswalels D9 :Aq pajeasd
sulel[|ip S9IAL HELT)) foue) JUNOY JO UMoL ainypuadx3 jo Juawalels Do :Bdwep ajejdws ]l



000 000 000 (1eys sahojdw3) Ise
0v'8v9'T %EL'9 (09'168'22) 0b'8b9'T (00'005%2) (00°005'%0) Wl

00°0 000 000 snuog seunsiy)
000 %000 (00°005°€) 000 (00°005°€) (00°005°€) PET

000 000 000 sebem SWHIAQ
€£°80S'T %S1°GC (L16b') €£°805'T (00°0009) (00"0009) [€4

000 0070 000 sabem
08'800°€7 %66'9 (0Z°'1$1'90€) 08°800'¢€ (00°05T1'62€) (00'051'62£) 121
syeans puy shemybiH  00TEY

00°0 000 00°0 snoaue|iosiiA
000 %000 (00'001) 000 (00'001) (00'001) 6/t

00°0 000 000 WNG3dvs
000 %00°0 (00'000'52) 000 (00°000'52) (00°000'5/2) 062

00°0 000 000 uopljowa(
00°0 %000 (00°000°0T) 00°0 (00'000'0T) (00'000°0T) 692

000 00°0 000 ssng
00°0729 396png oN 00°012'9 00°0T2’9 000 000 SET
juwabeuely Jojemuwlols /uondadsur buiping  0ZbTh

00°0 000 00°0 saa4
00°05¥ %08, (00°085'S) 00°0Sk (00'000°9) (00°000'9) 0/1
juawpiedeq jonuo) [ewiuy  00bTH

00°0 00'0 000 juawidinbg
00°545°€2S %b5'98 (00's2+'18) 00°6/S'€2S (00'000'509) (00°000'509) 0b6

00°'0 000 000 Buined
00°0 %000 (00°000°02T) 000 (00°000°02T) (00'000'02T) 1€6

00°0 000 000 uonebni pJezeH Y34
0070 %000 (00'000°0t2) 000 (00°000°0¥2) (00°'000°0%2) XA

000 00°0 000 SNoaUe|[0SI|A
0070 %00°0 (00'000'T) 000 (00'000'T) {00"000'1) 6L

ouelquinduy pasn % a|qeieAy spung saduelquundugy jafpng |ejoL sjuswpusuy Pa[qo A93ud) pslqo
/tendy /seanypuadx3 /3e6png JewblQ qns 350D
daLn dlA
%EE'S raAeledwo) Ajujuoly OTT :pund
9T 4o g 3bed szoz Ainc

INd €5:T S20Z/ET/8 sl /ereq seoueIquIndug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswajels 91 :Aq paeasd
SWBI||IM JAL 119sN [awe) JuUno Jo umoj ainypuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :dwep axejdwal



000 000 000 salddns bunesado
PE'862 %IE'E (99'102'8) $E°861 (00°000°6) (00°000°6) (1743
000 000 000 abeisod puy saliddns 20140
00'0 %00°0 (00°008) 0070 (00°008) (00°008) 01€
00°'0 000 000 buises] Juswdinbg
000 %Q0°0 (00°000'2) 000 (00°000'0) (00'000'0) #62
000 000 00°0 ELT
0070 %0070 (00°008) 00°0 (00°009) (00°00%) 082
00°0 000 000 S193.4S puy Speoy dueudjulely puy Jledsy
00°0 %00°0 (00°000'ST) 000 (00°000°sT) (00'000°ST) 897
00°0 000 000 sBuipjing adueu)ulely puy Jledsy
00'0 %000 (00°005'€) 000 (00°005'€) (00'005°€) 997
000 000 000 SIVIAIRS [edIPRIA
000 %000 (00°00%) 000 (00°003) (00°005) 152
00°0 000 000 SDIAIRS UOHeDIunLILWLIo) B30 puy auoydsjpl
00'0 %000 (00'008'0) 000 (00°008'2) (00°008'2) SHT
000 000 000 ssmnn
00°0 %000 (00°005'8) 000 (00°005'8) (00°005'8) 0¥
00’0 00°0 000 SIDIAIDG JUIDUT
0070 %00°0 (00°000'2) 000 (00°000'2) (00'000"0) 91¢
00°0 0070 00°0 buiuies] puy uoieonp3 saiojdwy
000 %000 (00'005'T) 00°0 (00°00S'T) (00'005'T) ig}
000 000 000 2ouRINSUT JUswWAojdwaun
00°0 %000 (00"00%) 000 (00'00%) (00"00%) Vid!
00°0 000 000 uonesuaduio)) s,usWJopm
00'02L” %656/ (00°086'T) 00°02L'2 (00'00£'6) (00°00£'6) b1
000 0070 000 ueld Juswa.iiey svAo|dw
1€'978'1 %ST°0T (69°€£179T) 1€'978'T (00"000'8T) (00"000°81) 34
000 00°0 00'0 3ouelnsuy asAojdwy
69°'SEE'S %/9°0T (1£'v99'vb) 69°GEE'S (00"000°05) (00°000°05) Wl
souelquindul pasn % a|qe[ieAy spung saoueaqunoug 3ebpng |ejol sjuswpuswy p2[q0 123ud) P3[qo
/1enpy /seamypuadxy /3e6png JeuwibLIQ qns 150D
alw ala

7R ] :3Aneledwo) Ajyjuop OTT : pung
9T Jo 6 abed szoz AInc
Wd £S:T S202/€1/8 dwi] /ajeq saoueRIquINoug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswdlels 91 :Aq pajeal)
SWe||Ip BJAL HELTS) [owe) JUNOo JO UMOL alnjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :awep jejdwa]



00'0 000 000 Juawdinby
00°0 %000 (00°000'S) 000 {00°000°5) (00°000'S) ov6
00'0 00'0 00'0 Buined
62°E8Y'T %L6'h (1£:915'LY) 62°c8b'C (00'000°05) (00°000°0S) 1€6
00°0 00°0 00°0 sa||ddns puy s|ela1ep
000 %000 (00°000°0%) 000 (00"000°0t) (00°000°0b) 0ot
00°0 000 000 aoueuajulely 6N dyell
00°0 %000 (00'000'2) 000 (00°000'2) (00°000'2) 1323
00'0 00'0 00'0 sal|ddns puy sued ubis
000 %00°0 (00'000°S) 000 (00°000°S) (00'000'S) e
00°0 00°0 000 Bunybr 1918
00°0 %000 (00'000'52) 000 (00'000'52) (00'000's2) Vaz4
plv9ons 31lS  06TEY
00°0 000 000 Juswdinb3
00'0 %00'0 (00"000°0€T) 000 (00"000'0€T) (00"000°0€T) ov6
000 000 000 Buined
000 %000 (00°000°05€) 000 (00°000°0S€) {00°000°05€) 1€6
000 000 00'0 spunoJ9 8 *Hpjg -Aeing jended
00°0 %000 (00"005'96) 000 (00°00596) (00°005°96) 443
00°0 000 00°0 Jleday sbeureiq
000 %00'0 (00"000'1) 000 (00'000'T) (00"000'T) 8
000 000 000 snoaue||RosIi
00°0 %000 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00'000'7) 6Lb
00'0 000 000 asuadx3 [end
00°0 %000 (00°005°8£) 000 (00°005'8¢) (00'005°8€) 1€€
000 000 000 asuadxg buesado sPIYSA
L8'6bT %T/'0 (€T°054'¥E) L8'6VT (00"000's€) (00"000'5€) €€
00°0 000 000 swloyun puy BuyIop
000 %000 (00°000'S) 000 (00"000°5) (00°000°s) Y43
souelquinoug pasn % djqe[leAy spun4 saouelquunoug j9bpng [ejol sjuswipuswy 19[qo 1ul) P3lqo
/lemdy /seanyipuadx3 /3ebpng [ewbLIO qns 150D
ain alA
%€E'8 :anesedwo) Alyiuop oTT : puny
9T J0 QT Sbed szoz Aing
IWd €8T S20Z/€1/8 sl /aeq seoue.qWINDUZ pue sa3In}puadx3 Jo Jusuialels 91 :Aq pajeatd
SWel||IM J3JAL esn [2uie) JUnopy Jo umoyl alnjipuadxd Jo Juswalels D97 :eweN aejdwa]



00'0 000 00°0 sabem
1T°0S€'E %269 (68'p60'SH) TT°08€'E (00'svb'8b) (00°Stt'8b) 4
Aeiqrn  oostt
000 000 00'0 uonessdQ puy JuswdofEAasg Hed
00°€1'6¢C %6%'9T (00°258'08) 00°€bT'6¢C (00'000°0TT) (0o'000’011) sz
0070 000 00°0 2dd7
000 %000 (00"000°00%) 000 (00°000'00%) (00°'000°00b) 194
00'0 000 000 snoaue|Izosii
0070 %000 (00°052) 00°0 (00'052) (00°052) 6L
00'0 000 00'0 sal|ddng bupessdo
00°0 %00°0 (00°005°T) 000 (00'005'1) (00°005'T) 1143
00'0 000 000 Yled [eLOWSIN 1B UesRlsA
000 %00°0 (00°00¢€) 000 (0o0"00€) (00"00€) 0o¢
00°0 00°0 00°0 SN
00°0 %000 (00"000°5) 000 (00°000°S) (00"000's) 0b2
uoneaday Obbbt
000 000 000 S3JIAIDS |enjpeljuo)
000 %000 (00°000'522) 000 (00"000'5£2) (00°000'5£2) 062
00'0 000 000 ueld Juswaiay dahojdwg
£9°6%¢C 39Bpng oN £9°6¥C £9'6bC 00°0 000 34!
000 00°0 000 soueInsu] aaAojdwg
00'0 396png oN 000 00°0 00°0 000 Wl
000 00'0 000 (a1eys s aholdwiz) 1seo
seeee 196png oN §T'TTT seeee 000 000 1
000 000 000 Sa6BM BWIHRAQ
9€'0zE 196png oN 9£°0¢¢ 9£°02¢ 000 000 w
000 000 000 sobem
09'266'C 196png oN 09'/66'C 09'266'C 000 00'0 ¥4
BujppAdey puy SiseMm PIOS  00ZED
aduelquinodug pasn % a|qejieay spung saduelIqunouy jebpng |ejol sjudWpuswy 199[q0 J2jua) Pelqo
/1lenpy [sainmjipuadxy /396png jeuiblo qns 150D
alwW dlA
%EE'S raAneledwo) Ajyiuop OTT :pund
9T Jo 1T dbed szoz AIng
Wd €S:T 620T/€1/8 iswi) /a3eq saJueIquINoUg pue sainjipuadxg Jo Juswalels 91 :Aq pageal)
SWel|IMm AL asn [oue) JUNopy Jo UMoL aInjpuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do owep ejdwal



00°0 000 000 elel
00'0 %000 (00°008'S) 000 {00°008°S) (00°008'S) 06v
00°0 00°0 00°0 snoaue|asii
00°0 %000 (00 00v) 000 (00"00%) (00°00t) 6Lb
00'0 000 000 abejsod puy saliddns 3040
009 %SE'0 (00'¥69'T) 009 (00"00£'T) (00'00£'T) 01€
00'0 000 000 EIATH
000 %000 (00'00%) 000 (00°00S) (00°005) 087
00'0 000 000 sbulp|ing axueusjule puy Jedsy
00°0 %0070 (00"000°€) 000 (00°000°€) (00'000°€) 992
00'0 00°0 00'0 yoddns alemyjos/a1empley Jondwo)
00°0 %00°0 (00°0059) 000 (00"0059) (00°005°9) 114
00°0 000 000 SIDIAIDS |EDIPRIN
000 %00'0 (00'001) 000 (co'00T) (0o0'00T) 152
000 00°0 00°0 SDIAIDS UOREDIUNWILLOY J3Y0 puy auoydajaL
000 %00°0 (00°002) 000 (00°002) (00°002) SHC
000 00'0 00°0
000 %00°0 (00'009'0) 000 (00'009'2) (00°009'0) (144
0070 000 000 S2IAIRS JBUIBIU]
000 %00'0 (00°008'T) 000 (00'008'T) (00 008'1) 912
00°0 000 00'0 Buiutel) puy uonesnp3 avAojdw3
00°0 %00°0 (00000'T) 00°0 (00°000'T) (00°000'T) g
00°0 00°0 00'0 22uelInsu uawAojdwaun
¥8'L %09°S (o1°2¢T) ¥8'L (00°0pT) (oo'otT) b1
000 00'0 000 uonesuadwo)) s,uduyJop
00°004'1 %00"00T 000 00"00£'T (00'00£'T) (00°00£'T) 9bT
000 0070 000 (31eys s9kojdw3) IseQ
0€°95¢ %20 (02 €6€'e) 0€°95¢ (00"059°€) (00'059°€) TH1
0070 000 000 snuog seunskyd
00°0 %00°0 (00'008) 000 (00"008) (00'008) pET
aduesquniug pasn % a|ge|ieAay spung souelquunoug 3ebpng |ejol sjuswIpulWy Ppalqo 1aqua) P2{qo0
/1lempy /seamypuadx3 /1e6png |euibLo qns 350D
alnW aiA

%EE'S :aAneiedwo) Ajyuop OTT : puny
9T Jo T abed szoz AInc
Wd £§'T S20T/ET/8 isun/aeq sedueIqunoul pue sainypuadxl Jo JuBWAeElS oY :Aq pageasd
swiey[|Ipm 1AL HEL] [owe) Juno Jo UMmo) ainyipuadxd Jo Juswalels Do :awep ajejdwal



000 000 000
££'560'188 %T6'ST (£9°0v8'559"p) ££'660'188 (00°9£6'9£5’) (00°9£6"955'S) OTT :pund 104 [e30L
00°0 000 000 saliddns puy sjeusien
000 %000 (00°0s2) 000 (00°052) (00"052) 00t
00°0 00°0 00’0 Yed [UOWS|Y Jep URISISA
000 %000 (00°008's) 00°0 (00°008°S) (00°008'S) 00¢
000 000 0070 Buises Juswdinby
00°0 %000 (00°'6v0) 000 (00'6v2) (00°6¥2) 4
00°0 00'0 00°0 SSOINIAS [eUosIad
00°0 %000 (00'v10°9) 00°0 (00'¥+0'9) (00°++09) 00T
sjuswied jedpulid 9sea1 00006
00°0 000 000 uswdinbg
0070 %000 (00'000'21) 00°0 (00°000'21) (00'000°21) ov6
00°0 00°0 000 welbold Buipesy Jswwng
00°0 %00°0 (00"000'2) 0070 (00"000'2) (00'000'2) 12,
000 000 000 Ja1do) asea bupeladp
99°1€ %EE9 (be°89b) 99'T€ {00°008) (00°005) S79
00'0 00'0 00'0 T2-0¢ Jues Buutel| Aseigi
00°0 %00°0 {00°005°0) 00°0 (00'005'2) (00°005'2) 619
{oueiquinouy pasn %% a|qejieAy spung seouelqundug 39b6png jejol sjualUpulauy 193[q0 Jojua) palqo
/lenpy [seamipuadx3 /326png JeuibLiQ qns 150D
ainW alA

%EE'S :aAiesedwo) Alyiuow OTT : puny
97 Jo €1 dbed szoz AInc
Wd €S'T S20Z/€1/8 :Pwil/s1eq ssduelquinduz pue sainjipuadx3 jo Juswialels 291 :Aq pajean)
SWe|IM JSJAL HE | [ouLIe) JUNOY JO UMO) anypuadxy Jo JuswRlels Do aweN ajejdwaL



00'0 00'0 00°0
000 %000 (00°005°2€) 00°0 (00"005°£€) (00°005°2£) ZT :pung Jiod [ejoL
00°0 000 00'0 suojesado pund niq
000 %00'0 (00°005°2€) 00'0 (00°005'2£) (00°005°2£) vl
uonebysaau]l [eulwl)  TTICP
soueIqunduy pasn % a|qejieAy spung saJuelqunougy 39bpng [ejol spuawWpuWyY pelqo 191u3) Palqo
/1endy [saimipuadx3 /396png jeuibli0 qns 150D
ain alA
. H d A

%EE'S aanesedwo) AlYuop Izt :puny
9T 4o T obed szoz Ainc
Wd €S:T §20Z/€1/8 iaw] /ajeq sasuelquinoug pue sainjipuadxg jo Juswiajels 291 :Aq pajeasd
SWeIIp 19JAL HELT) [Puwe) JUNOKW JO UMO]L alnjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels D9 :aweN ejdway



00°0 000 000 soueinsug
000 %000 (00°000'2) 000 (0070000 (00°000'2) 01S
00°0 000 00°0 snoaue|[=osiiy
00°0 %000 (00'000°T) 00'0 (00°000'T) (00'000T) 6Lb
00'0 000 000 NOLLONYLSNOD
06°082'06 %bS'S (0T°695'8€5°T) 06'082'06 (007058829'T) (00°058'829'T) 100
000 00°0 00'0 SoueUsURly puY Jiedsy Jueld JajemaIsem
01°S52'E 396png oN 01's52'E 01'552'€ 00°0 00°0 $9€
000 000 000 2IueUSIUIR|Y pUY Jleday dwnd [eRuspISaY
0000522 396png oN 00°005'22 0000522 000 000 29¢
00°0 00°0 00'0 S$884 UOISSIWWOD
00°520°C %07'6 (00'526'6T) 00'520'Z (00°000'22) (00'000'22) 867
00°0 000 00°0 SIVIAIRS [ENPRIUCD
STY80b %EP'0 (S£'S16'5H6) STH80' (00"000°056) (00"000°056) 062
00°0 000 00°0 $199.15 puy SPEOY 3dueUIIR| puy Jieday
000 %00'0 (00°005°€) 000 (00°005°€) (00°005°€) 89
00°0 000 000 SSOIAISS DURUSIUIRIA puY Jleday
hLe€'e %STTT (65'299'1T) TH'LEE'E (007000'ST) (00°000'sT) 092
00°0 000 000 994 Bunipny puy Buiunoxy
000 %0070 (00'000'2) 000 (00°000D) (00°000°2) €52
000 000 000 Sa0IAIRS |eba
00°0 %000 (00"000°ST) 000 (00°000°ST) (00'000°ST) (474
00°0 00°0 00°0 SSDIAI3S UOREDIUNLUWO)D J3UI0 puy duoydajal
00°0 %000 (00°00%) 000 (00'00S) (00°008) 5174
00°0 000 000 SaAN
000 %000 (00°000°081) 000 (00"000°08T) (00'000°081) 1] 24
00°0 00°0 00°0 SIDIAIBS JRUIBIU]
000 %000 (00°008) 000 (00°008) (007008) 912
1oMmas  00ZzZS
aduelqundouz pasn % djqejieAy spund saoueIquindul j9bpng jejol sjuswWpuawy 13(q0 J93ua) p2[qo
/1lenjoy /sainjipuadxgy /3e6png jeu1blQ qns 150D
alwW alA
%EE'8 ‘aAeledwo) Ajuiuoiy 2Ty pung
9T Jo §T obed szoz Aing
Wd €5:T 5202/€1/8 sl /e3eq sadueIqUINOU pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels 91 :Aq pageasd
sulel[ipm 1AL asn [Pwie) JuUnopy Jo UMmol ainyipuadxy Jo Juswelels Do :aweyN ajejdwa ]l



000 000 000
08'€EE'2pT %P (oz'918'9zC'E) 08'¢€E'2HT (00'058'89¢'€) (00"058°89¢'€) ZIv :pund lod [ejoL
00'0 000 000 siemolg 1ue|d Jamas
00°0 %000 (00"000's) 00'0 (007000'S) (00°000'9) 956
00°0 000 000 SoueuSjUIB 13100y 010%/5S21d 1P
00°0 %000 (00°00S'T) 00'0 (00"005'T) (00'00S'T) SS6
000 000 000 sabley) DIAIRS yueg
LT'16 196png oN LTL6 [TL6 000 0070 169
000 000 000 15J90u] epjL
00°0 %00°0 (00'002°€) 000 (00'002'S) (00'002'€) §€9
000 000 000 spuog BuIpuryy xel /Ay £10¢
00°0 %00°0 (00'000'st) 00'0 (007000'st) (00"000'SP) ¥19
00°0 00°0 00'0 S934 JUlIRd 3815
18°€SL'T %T1'08§ (€1°9b2'T) £8'€S/'T (00°005°€) (00°005°E) 965
000 0070 00°0 uopenaidag
00°0 %000 (00°000°062) 000 (00°000°0627) (00°000062) (1]
000 00°0 000 |ejuay Juawdinbg puy AlBuiyoew
00°000'ST %05, (00"000'58T) 00°000'ST (00'000'002) (00°000'002) ges
aduesquinouy pasn % a|qejieAy spung sooue.Iquinduy 106png |ejol sjuaupuaIy 03(qo A9JUd) 9lqo
/1enpy [saimypuadx3 /3°6png jeuiblQ qns 150D
alwW aia

%EE'8 :aanesedwo) Ajyiuoly ZTb : pung
9T 40 91 9bed §zoz AIng
IWd €5:T §20Z/€1/8 Pwi) /a3eg saduelquindug pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswdlels 1 :Aq pajeal)d
SWel[Im J9JAL HEL] [owe) JUNOY JO UMOL aunypuadxg Jo Juswalels Do Bwep a3ejdwal



Mount Carmel Fire Department

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

L =
| _DEPARTMENT _

August 4th, 2025
To: James Stables, City Manager
Ref: July 2025 Monthly Report

The Mount Carmel Fire Department answered a total of 41 calls for service during the month of
July. Day shift personnel answered 23 calls, and 18 calls were answered by volunteer staff. Our
average dispatch to arrival time was 5:39 with a 90t percentile of 8:09. Calls for this month
included structure fires, multiple vehicle accidents and medical responses. This brings our year-

to-date total to 252 calls for service.

July proved to be extremely busy for our department. We conducted 12 smoke detector installs
at residences throughout Mount Carmel which was made possible by “Get-Alarmed” through the
State of Tennessee Fire Marshal’s Office. We also participated in multiple community
engagement events. We are pleased to announce that we have taken delivery of the new Tower
18, a 2013 Sutphen 90’ aerial platform. Obtaining this apparatus has been a two-year process for
us and we are glad to see the project completed. We will be conducting a large amount of

training with the truck over the coming months.

Over July, we conducted multiple in-house training courses on a wide variety of topics. Members
worked on hose line deployments, vehicle fire suppression, rapid intervention drills, firefighter
air emergencies, and wall breaching. We had two firefighters obtain fire commission
certifications over the month. Firefighter Hayden Joyner obtained Fire Officer Il and Firefighter
Michael Murray obtained Hazardous Materials Technician.

Thank you and the BMA for your continued support.

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

100 EAST MAIN STREET, MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE 37645
T (423) 444-1027 E MCFD@MOUNTCARMELTN.GOV



) eso Total Record Volume By Incident Type

Custom v Jul1,2025 - Jul 31,2025 v

59%

FIRE

Percentage of Toial

Incidents

41%
EMS

Percentage of Total

Iacidents

41 15
INCIDENTS

In Selected Time Shee 1

31 -

DAYS
In S2lected Time Shice

N

julz Juta Jule Jul8 Jul10 Juii2 Juid Jul1g Jut1g Jul 20 Jui22 Jut24 Jul 26 Jul 28 Jul 30

Jan‘22 Jui22 Jan'23 Jul23 Jan24 Juir24 Jan 25

% Rows % Columns % Al

Week Ending 7/6/25 7/13/25  7/20/25  7/27/25 8/3/25 8/10/25 8/17/25  8/24/25  8/31/25 9/7/25 9/14/25  9/21/25 9/28/25 Total

(11) Structure 1 i
Fire

(12) Fire in

mabile

property used 1 1
as a fixed

structure

{16) Special 1 1
outside fire

(31) Medical
assist 3 3 1 2 9

(32)dt_5mlergency

medica

service (EMS) 2 2 : 3 g
incident

(46) Accident,
potential 1
accident

(47) Explosive, 1 ;
bomb remaval

(55) Public
service 4 2
asslstance

(56)

Unauthorized 1
burning
(g” hed

ispatche
and canceled 3 2 1 1 7
en route

(63) Controlled 1 1
burning

{73) System or
detector 1 1 2
malfunction

74)

Unintentional

system/delect... 1 1
operation (nho

fire}

Total 8 12 9 5 2 41

Page 1 of 1



MOUNT CARMEL

A place To pat dowo sooll
I Vg

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU:

FROM: James Stables, Town Administrator/Manager

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: ORDINANCE NO. 25-542 (2nd Reading) AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL
AND REPLACE TITLE 3, CHAPTERS 1 THROUGH 4 OF THE MOUNT
CARMEL MUNICIPAL CODE-2010 REGARDING MUNICIPAL COURTS

SUMMARY:

This ordinance will repeal and replace chapters 1 through 4 of the Mount Carmel
Municipal Code-2010, which allows for updates consistent with Tennessee law and
standards and updating the court costs to the current day valuation of expenses.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:.
Incalculable revenue increase/decrease to offset overall court costs.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval.

ATTACHMENTS:
EXHIBIT A Proposed Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4 rewritten

EXHIBIT B Original Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4



MOUNT CARMEL

A ploce Zo put dowo sa0ll
Vi Vg

ORDINANCE 25-542

BEFORE THE MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL,
TENNESSEE

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND REPLACE TITLE 3, CHAPTERS 1 THROUGH 4
OF THE MOUNT CARMEL MUNICIPAL CODE-2010 REGARDING MUNICIPAL
COURTS

WHEREAS, Title 3 of the Mount Carmel Municipal Code-2010 needs to be updated to reflect
changes in Tennessee law and standards, and to further detail the scope of jurisdiction,
finance, operations, and functions of the municipal court.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town
of Mount Carmel, Tennessee that:

SECTION 1. Title 3, Chapters 1 through 4 of the Mount Carmel Municipal Code is
amended by repealing existing Title 3, Chapter 1 through 4 in their entirety, and replacing
it with Title 3, Chapters 1 through 4 as contained in Exhibit A attached hereto.

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall take effect from and after the final passage upon second
reading, and publishing as required.

Approved on First Reading July 24, 2025
Approved on Second Reading August 28, 2025

Approved as to Form:

Town Attorney

This Ordinance was duly considered and adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, on
second reading, in and for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, this 28t day of August 2025.

Attest

John Gibson, Mayor Tyler Williams, Town Recorder



EXHIBIT A — 2025 REPLACEMENT

TITLE 3
MUNICIPAL COURT

CHAPTER

1. MUNICIPAL JUDGE.

2. COURT ADMINISTRATION.

3. WARRANTS, SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS.
4. BONDS AND APPEALS.

CHAPTER 1
MUNICIPAL JUDGE

SECTION
3-101. Municipal judge.
3-102. Jurisdiction.

3-101. Municipal judge.

(1) Office created. Pursuant to the authority granted in state law and the town charter, there
is hereby created and established for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, the office
of municipal judge, which judge shall be vested with the judicial powers and functions
granted under the laws of Tennessee, and said judge shall be subject to the provisions
of the laws governing the municipal court, as set out by the laws of the State of
Tennessee.

(2) Appointment. The municipal judge designated by the charter to handle judicial matters
within the town shall be appointed by the board of mayor and aldermen and shall serve
at the pleasure of the governing body. Vacancies in the office of the municipal judge
arising from resignation, disqualification or for any other reason whatsoever, shall be
filled in the same manner as prescribed for the appointment of the municipal judge.

(3) Qualifications. The municipal judge shall be a minimum of thirty (30) years of age, be
licensed by the State of Tennessee to practice law, and be a resident of Tennessee.

(4) Term of office: vacancy. The municipal judge shall be appointed by the board of mayor
and aldermen for a term of two (2) years, said term beginning the first day of July and
any incumbent judge shall serve during the term and until his successor is appointed
and qualified. Any vacancy in the office of municipal judge shall be filled for the
unexpired term by the board of mayor and aldermen.

(5) Judge pro tem. During the absence of the municipal judge from his duties for any reason
or at any time the office of the municipal judge is vacant, the board of mayor and
aldermen may appoint a municipal judge pro tem to serve until the municipal judge
returns to his duties or the office of municipal judge is no longer vacant. The municipal
judge pro tem shall have all the qualifications required, and powers, of the municipal
judge.

(6) Oath and bond. The municipal judge shall take the same oath of office as that prescribed
for the mayor and, before entering upon the duties of this office, shall make bond in the



amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000), the cost of said bond being paid by the Town
of Mount Carmel.

(7) Salary. The salary of the municipal judge shall be fixed by board of mayor and aldermen
before his or her appointment and said salary shall not be altered during the term for
which he or she is appointed.

3-102. Jurisdiction. The municipal judge shall have the authority to try persons charged
with the violation of municipal ordinances, and to punish persons convicted of such
violations by levying a civil penalty under the general penalty provision of this code.

CHAPTER 2
COURT ADMINISTRATION

SECTION

3-201. Maintenance of docket.

3-202. Imposition of penalties and costs.

3-203. Disposition and report of penalties and costs.
3-204. Contempt of court.

3-205. Use of collections agency authorized.

3-201. Maintenance of docket. The court clerk in conjunction with the municipal judge
shall keep a complete docket of all matters coming before him in his judicial capacity. The
docket shall include for each defendant such information as his name; alleged offense(s);
disposition; penalties and costs imposed and whether collected; and all other information
which may be relevant.

3-202. Imposition of Fines, Penalties, and Court Costs.

(1) All fines and costs shall be imposed by the municipal judge and recorded by the
municipal court clerk on the municipal court docket. The maximum fine amount shall
be $50.00, as identified in Article VI, Section 14 of the Tennessee Constitution. All
fines or costs to the Town paid via credit or debit cards may be subject to a processing
fee

(2) Court Costs - In all cases heard and determined by him or her, the municipal judge shall
impose court costs in the amount E)f;i{)ne hundred and twenty-two dollars ($122.00).
Two dollars ($2.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the court clerk to the state
treasurer in accordance to Tennessee Code Annotated § 16-18-304(a) to be used by the
Administrative Office of the Courts for training and continuing education courses for
municipal court judges and municipal court clerks.

(3) Court Costs for compliance dismissal prior to court date - When any person has been
charged with violation of a law regarding vehicle equipment (including but not limited

to inoperable headlights, tail lights, brake lights or turn signals), driver licensing, or
vehicle licensing and registration, the charge may be dismissed if the person charged
with the violation submits evidence of compliance with such law on or before the court
date; provided, however, that the municipal judge may establish a separate court cost
not to exceed $27.00 to be collected from the person charged with the violation. This
separate court costs will be assessed in lieu of the court costs detailed in Section 3-
202(2) above.



Two dollars ($2.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the court clerk to the state
treasurer in accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated § 16-18-304(a) to be used by
the Administrative Office of the Courts for training and continuing education courses
for municipal court judges and municipal court clerks.

(4) Litigation Taxes - In all cases where the defendant is charged with the violation of a
municipal ordinance or authorized state statute and is found guilty, whether by trial or
plea of guilty, such defendant shall pay:

(a) The State litigation taxes of $13.75 as defined in Tennessee Code Annotated §
67-4-601.

(b) Any other taxes and/or fees imposed pursuant to state statutes and/or municipal
ordinances.

(5) Electronic citation regulations and fees.
(a) As used in this section, "electronic citation”" means a written citation or an
electronic citation prepared by a law enforcement officer on paper or on an
electronic data device with the intent the citation shall be filed, electronically or
otherwise, with a court having jurisdiction over the alleged offense.
(b) Pursuant to and in accordance with state statutory requirements found in
Tennessee Code Section 55-10-207(e), each court clerk shall charge and collect an
electronic citation fee of five dollars ($5.00) for each citation which results in a
conviction.
(c) Sunset provision. This Ordinance and its fee requirement shall terminate five
(5) years from the date of adoption of this Ordinance and the Town’s Municipal
Code shall be so annotated.

3-203. Disposition and report of penalties and costs. All funds coming into the Town in
the form of penalties, costs, and forfeitures shall be recorded by the court clerk. At the end
of each month the court clerk shall submit to the Town Administrator/Manager for
availability to the board of mayor and aldermen a report accounting for the collection or
non-collection of all penalties and costs imposed by his or her court during the current
month and to date for the current fiscal year.

3-204. Contempt of court. Contempt of court is punishable by a fine of fifty dollars
($50.00), or such lesser amount as may be imposed in the judge's discretion.

3-205. Use of a collection_agency authorized. In addition to all other remedies for
collecting delinquent fines and costs owed to the town, the town may use the services of a
collection agency pursuant to the procedures as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated, §
40-24-105. (Ord. #267, Feb. 2004)

CHAPTER 3 —
SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS

SECTION
3-301. Issuance of summonses.
3-302. Issuance of subpoenas.

3-301. Issuance of summonses. When a complaint of an alleged ordinance violation is
made to the municipal judge, the judge may, in his discretion, issue a summons ordering
the alleged offender personally to appear before the municipal court at a time specified




therein to answer to the charges against them. The summons shall contain a brief
description of the offense charged but need not set out verbatim the provisions of the
municipal code or ordinance alleged to have been violated. Upon failure of any person to
appear before the municipal court as commanded in a summons lawfully served on him,
the cause may be proceeded with ex parte, and the judgment of the court shall be valid and
binding subject to the defendant's right of appeal.

3-302. Issuance of subpoenas. The municipal judge may subpoena as witnesses all
persons whose testimony he believes will be relevant and material to matters coming before
his court, and it shall be unlawful for any person lawfully served with such a subpoena to
fail or neglect to comply therewith.

CHAPTER 4
BONDS AND APPEALS

SECTION
3-401. Appeals.
3-402. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.

3-401. Appeals. Any person dissatisfied with any judgment of the municipal court against
him may, within ten (10) days thereafter, Sundays exclusive, appeal to the circuit court of
the county upon giving bond.

"Person" as used in this section includes, but is not limited to, a natural person, corporation,
business entity or the municipality.

3-402. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.
(1) Appeal bond. An appeal bond in any case shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00)
for such person's appearance and the faithful prosecution of the appeal.

(2) Pauper's oath. A bond is not required provided the defendant/appellant
(a) Files the following oath of poverty:
I , do solemnly swear under penalties of perjury, that owing to
my poverty, I am not able to bear the expense of the action which I am about to
commence, and that I am justly entitled to the relief sought, to the best of my belief;
(b) Files an accompanying affidavit of indigency.

The affidavit of indigency must be sworn to by the defendant/appellant and the facts therein

may be investigated.

If approved by the Judge, the appeal bond may be waived or reduced

"Person" as used in this section includes, but is not limited to, a natural person, corporation,

business entity or the municipality.




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

TITLE 3
MUNICIPAL COURT!

CHAPTER
1. CITY JUDGE.
2. COURT ADMINISTRATION.
3. WARRANTS, SUMMONSES AND SUBPOENAS.
4. BONDS AND APPEALS.

CHAPTER 1

CITY JUDGE
SECTION

3-101. City judge.

3-101. City judge. (1) Office created. Pursuant to the authority granted in state
law and the town charter, there is hereby created and established for the Town of Mount
Carmel, Tennessee, the office of municipal judge, which judge shall be vested with the
judicial powers and functions granted under the laws of Tennessee, and said judge shall
be subject to the provisions of the laws governing the municipal court, as set out by the
laws of the State of Tennessee.

(2)  Qualifications. Any person serving as municipal judge shall be at least
twenty-five (25) years of age and shall be a resident of the State of Tennessee at the time
of and for the duration of his appointment.

(3)  Term of office: vacancy. The municipal judge shall be appointed by the
board of mayor and aldermen for a term of two (2) years, said term beginning the first day
of July and any incumbent judge shall serve during the term and until his successor is
appointed and qualified. Any vacancy in the office of municipal judge shall be filled for
the unexpired term by the board of mayor and aldermen.

4) Oath and bond. The municipal judge shall take the same oath of office as
that prescribed for the mayor and, before entering upon the duties of this office, shall
make bond in the amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), the cost of said bond being
paid by the Town of Mount Carmel.

(5)  Salary. The salary of the municipal judge shall be fixed by the board of
mayor and aldermen before his or her appointment and said salary

!Charter reference
City Judge--City Court: § 6-4-301.



EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

shall not be altered during the term for which he or she is appointed. (1990 Code, § 3-
101, modified)

CHAPTER 2 COURT

ADMINISTRATION

SECTION

3-201. Maintenance of docket.

3-202. Fines, forfeitures and commissions.

3-203. Disposition and report of fines, penalties, and costs. 3-204.
Contempt of court.

3-205. Use of a collection agency authorized.

3-201. Maintenance of docket. The city judge shall keep a complete docket of
all matters coming before him in his judicial capacity. The docket shall include for each
defendant such information as his name; warrant and/or summons numbers; alleged
offense; disposition; fines, penalties, and costs imposed and whether collected; whether
committed to workhouse; and all other information which may be relevant. (1990 Code, §
3-201)

3-202. Fines. forfeitures, and commissions.! In all charges involving the
violations or alleged violations of a city ordinance:

1) In all cases heard and determined by him, the city judge shall impose court
costs in the amount of seventy-seven dollars and twenty-five cents ($77.25), to be added to
the fine and litigation tax. One dollar ($1.00) of the court costs shall be forwarded by the
court clerk to the state treasurer to be used by the administrative office of the courts for
training and continuing education courses for municipal court judges and municipal court
clerks.

(2)  The maximum fine of forfeiture shall be fifty dollars (§50.00), unless
assessed by a jury of peers who find that the fine should be more than fifty dollars
($50.00), yet not exceeding five hundred dollars ($500.00). (1990 Code, § 3-203, as
amended by Ord. #228, Dec. 2001, and Ord. #09-347, Oct. 2009)

3-203. Disposition and report of fines, penalties, and costs. All funds coming
into the hands of the city judge in the form of fines, penalties, costs, and forfeitures shall
be recorded by him and paid over daily to the town. At the end of each month he shall
submit to the board of mayor and aldermen a report accounting for the collection or
noncollection of all fines, penalties, and costs imposed by his court during the current
month and to date for the current fiscal year. (1990 Code, § 3-203)

IThe schedule of commissions and fines is of record in the office of the city recorder.



EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

3-204. Contempt of court. Contempt of court is punishable by a fine of fifty
dollars ($50.00), or such lesser amount as may be imposed in the judge's discretion.

3-205. Use of a collection agency authorized. In addition to all other remedies for
collecting delinquent fines and costs owed to the town, the town may use the services of a
collection agency pursuant to the procedures as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated, §
40-24-105. (Ord. #267, Feb. 2004)

CHAPTER 3

WARRANTS. SUMMONSES, AND SUBPOENAS

SECTION

3-301. Issuance of arrest warrants. 3-

302. Issuance of summonses.

3-303. Issuance of subpoenas.

3-304. Citations in lieu of arrest in non-traffic cases. 3-305.
Summonses in lieu of arrest.

3-301. Issuance of arrest warrants.! The city judge shall have the power to
issue warrants for the arrest of persons charged with violating municipal ordinances.
(1990 Code, § 3-301)

3-302. Issuance of summonses. When a complaint of an alleged ordinance
violation is made to the city judge, the judge may in his discretion, in lieu of issuing an
arrest warrant, issue a summons ordering the alleged offender personally to appear before
the city court at a time specified therein to answer to the charges against him. The summons
shall contain a brief description of the offense charged but need not set out verbatim the
provisions of the municipal code or ordinance alleged to have been violated. Upon failure
of any person to appear before the city court as commanded in a summons lawfully
served on him, the cause may be proceeded with ex parte, and the judgment of the court
shall be valid and binding subject to the defendant's right of appeal. (1990 Code,

§ 3-302)

3-303. Issuance of subpoenas. The city judge may subpoena as witnesses all
persons whose testimony he believes will be relevant and material to matters coming before
his court, and it shall be unlawful for any person lawfully served with such a subpoena to
fail or neglect to comply therewith. (1990 Code, § 3-303)

3-304. Citations in lieu of arrest in non-traffic cases. Pursuant to Tennessee
Code Annotated, § 7-63-101, et seq., the board of mayor and aldermen appoints the fire
chief, or his designee in the fire department and the building inspector, or his designee in
the building department, special police officers having the authority to issue citations in
lieu of arrest. The fire chief, or his designee in the fire department shall have the authority
to issue citations in lieu

IState law reference
For authority to issue arrest warrants see Tennessee Code Annotated, title 40,

chapter 5.




EXHIBIT B - 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

of arrest for violations of the fire code adopted in this municipal code of ordinances.
The building inspector, or his designee in the building department shall have the authority
to issue citations in lieu of arrest for violations of the building, utility and housing codes
adopted in this municipal code of ordinances. The citation in lieu of arrest shall contain the
name and address of the person being cited and such other information necessary to
identify and give the person cited notice of the charges against him, and state a specific
date and place for the offender to appear and answer the charges against him. The
citation shall also contain an agreement to appear, which shall be signed by the offender. If
the offender refuses to sign the agreement to appear, the special officer in whose presence
the offense was committed shall immediately arrest the offender and dispose of him in
accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated,

§ 7-63-101. (Ord. #211, Dec. 1999)

3-305. Summonses in lien of arrest. Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, §
7-63-201, et seq., which authorizes the board of mayor and aldermen to designate certain
city enforcement officers the authority to issue ordinance summons in the areas of
sanitation, litter control and animal control, the board designates the animal control officer
or his designee in the police department and the public utilities board manager, or his
designee in the sewer department, to issue ordinance summonses in those areas. These
enforcement officers may not arrest violators or issue citations in lieu of arrest, but upon
witnessing a violation of any ordinance, law or regulation in the areas of sanitation, litter
control or animal control, may issue an ordinance summons and give the summons to the
offender.

The ordinance summons shall contain the name and address of the person being
summoned and such other information necessary to identify and give the person summoned
notice of the charge against him, and state specific date and place for the offender to
appear and answer the charges against him.

The ordinance summons shall also contain an agreement to appear, which shall be
signed by the offender. If the offender refuses to sign the agreement to appear, the
enforcement officer in whose presence the offense occurred may:

(1)  Have a summons issued by the clerk of the city court; or

)] May seek the assistance of a police officer to witness the violation.

The police officer who witnesses the violation may issue a citation in lieu of arrest
for the violation, or arrest the offender for failure to sign the citation in lieu of arrest.

It shall be unlawful for any person to violate this agreement to appear in court,
regardless of the disposition of the charge for which the ordinance summons was issued.
(Ord. #211, Dec. 1999)




EXHIBIT B — 2010 ORIGINAL DOCUMENT

CHAPTER 4

BONDS AND APPEALS

SECTION

3-401. Appearance bonds authorized. 3-

402. Appeals.

3-403. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms.

3-401. Appearance bonds authorized. When the city judge is not available or
when an alleged offender requests and has reasonable grounds for a delay in the trial of his
case, he may, in lieu of remaining in jail pending disposition of his case, be allowed to post
an appearance bond with the city judge or, in the absence of the judge, with the city court
clerk, or in the absence of the city court clerk, with the ranking police officer on duty at
the time, provided such alleged offender is not under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
(1990 Code,

§ 3-401)

3-402. Appeals. Any defendant who is dissatisfied with any judgment of the city
court against him may, within ten (10) days' next after such judgment is rendered, appeal to
the next term of the circuit court upon posting a proper appeal bond. (1990 Code, § 3-
401)

3-403. Bond amounts, conditions, and forms. An appearance bond in any case
before the city court shall be in such amount as the city judge shall prescribe and shall be
conditioned that the defendant shall appear for trial before the city court at the stated time
and place. An appeal bond in any case shall be two hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00),
and shall be conditioned that if the circuit court shall find against the appellant the fine or
penalty and all costs of the trial and appeal shall be promptly paid by the defendant and/or
his sureties. An appearance or appeal bond in any case may be made in the form of a cash
deposit or by any corporate surety company authorized to do business in Tennessee or by
two (2) private persons who individually own real property within the county. No other
type bond shall be acceptable. (1990 Code, § 3-401, modified)

IState law reference
Tennessee Code Annotated, § 16-18-307.




MOUNT CARMEL

Dg/)dme 7o /J(al‘{/{zwu ro.cZy

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

FROM: Jim Gilliam, Alderman

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Amendment to Personnel Policies and
Procedures (Rev. 2025)

SUMMARY:

During the August 14, 2025 workshop, Alderman Gilliam proposed an amendment to
the Personnel Policies and Procedures to remove Juneteenth as an approved holiday and
replace that day with Election Day.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Alderman

FISCAL IMPACT:

None

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

NIA

ATTACHMENTS:



TO:

THRU:
FROM:
DATE:
RE:

MOUNT CARMEL

%/Jfaca 2o put dowe 42l

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam, Alderman
Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

James Stables, Town Administrator/Manager
August 28, 2024

RESOLUTION NO. 25-655 AMENDED SCHEDULE OF FEES, FINES,
RATES & COSTS AS OF SEPTEMBER 1, 2025

SUMMARY:
This issue

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

City Manager

FISCAL IMPACT-
Incalculable revenue increase/decrease

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval

ATTACHMENTS:
Court Fees, Fines & Costs Table for reference (3 pages)



RESOLUTION 25-655

BEFORE THE MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL,
TENNESSEE

WHEREAS, the monetary amount of all fees or charges levied or assessed in the code of
ordinances shall be established by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen as the necessity or
advisability of the same may from time to time require.

WHEREAS, the last four Town resolutions amending the schedule of fees, fines, rates & costs
have included no increases, while the costs associated with execution of the Town’s business have
continued to climb, with the Consumer Pricing Index-Urban rate climbing approximately 26%
from June 2019 through May 2025.

WHEREAS, a majority of the previously considered and approved schedule of fees, fines, rates &
costs resolutions included the municipal court system’s court costs and various fees, fines, and
taxes are provided for reference only in this resolution, and are appropriately codified by the
prevalent Town of Mount Carmel Municipal Code, 2010, Title 3 MUNICIPAL COURT, Chapter 2
COURT ADMINISTRATION, SECTION 3-202. Fines, forfeitures, and commissions.

WHEREAS,

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE FOLLOWING AMENDED SCHEDULE
OF FEES, FINES, RATES, AND COSTS IS EFFECTIVE AS OF AUGUST 1, 2025

GENERAL
Animal Related Fees:

Small Animal Trap Deposit

Large Animal Trap Deposit
Beer Permit

Privilege Tax

Application Fee

TBI Background Check & Fingerprinting
Liquor License

Privilege Tax

Application Fee

TBI Background Check & Fingerprinting
Impounded Vehicle Fee:

Storage
Peddlers Permit
Fireworks Permit

Return Check Fee

$45 refundable upon return
$75 refundable upon return

$100 annually
$250
$29

In accordance T.C.4. §57-4-301 (8%)
$500
$29

$50 per day

$20 plus a $1,000 surety bond
$300 plus a $1,000 surety bond
$50



Subdivision/Zoning Book $6

Sexual Offender Permit Fee $150
Sign Permit $50
Food Truck Permit Fee $50*

* Food Truck Permit Fees shall apply to any person, group, or organization engaged in vending
of food items or merchandise or offering services to the general public, in a street, lane, side
walk, footpath, pavement, public park or any other public place or private area, from a
temporary built-up structure (including food trucks).

If a street vendor is present at the event at the behest of the hosting organization or has
otherwise paid to participate in the event, a permit shall not be required.
All vendors found to be in operation without a permit or unaffiliated with the hosting

organization or event shall be forced to cease operations until a permit is secured.



Reference Only for RESOLUTION 25-655; Court Fees, Fines, and Costs Authorized in ORDINANCE 25-542
(STED Fee* included in Court Cost, not added additionally)

COURT FEES, FINES, AND COSTS ToTAL | Court STED | STLIT
Cost Fine Fee* Tax E-Cit
Accident Resulting in Damage $190.75 12200 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Animals Abandonment $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal Adequate Food, Water, & Shelter | $170.00 122.00 50.00 - < =
Animals in Heat $120.00 122.00 - - -
Animal Humane Treatment | $ 170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal-Noisy | $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal-No City Tags | $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal Ordinance 1st Offense | $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal Ordinance 2nd Offense $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal-Rabies Vaccinations & Registration $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Animal-Running at Large $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Bicycle-Riding-Use of Play Vehicles | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 -
Bumper Required | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Child Restraint | $ 55.00 . 50.00 - S 5.00
Crossing Highway Divider | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Destroying ity Property | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 -
Disturbing the Peace $170.00 122.00 50.00 - . -
Driver to Exercise Due Care | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Driving Left of Center | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Driving on Wrong Side of the Road |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Driving Right Lane Exceptto Pass | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Driving to Slow Impeding Flow of Traffic | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Excessive Noise from Vehicle | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Failure to Maintain Control | $175.00 122.00 50.00 - - 5.00
Failure to Maintain Control w/Accident | $175.00 122.00 50.00 S - 5.00
Failure to Report Accident | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75
Failure to Signal | $180.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Failure to Appear | $180.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Failure to Appear (certified mail service of process) | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 -
Failure to Obey Officer | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 =
Failure to Pay Fines, Fees, and costs | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 -
Failure to Stop for Blue Lights | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Failure to Yield Right of Way | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Failure to Yield Right of Way Causing Accident | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
False Report of Motor Vehicle Accident | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 =
Financial Responsibility-Insurance Proof | $180.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Followingto Close | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Following to Close w/Accident | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Health or Sanitation Nuisance $170.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
lllegal Burning | $170.00 122.00 50.00 - c =
Immediate Notice of Accident | $ 185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 :
Improper Lane Use | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Improper Passing | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
improper Passing (No PassingZone) | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00




urt TED STLIT
COURT FEES, FINES, AND COSTS TOTAL (éc:)st Fine SFee Tax E-Cit
Improper Passing of School Bus |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Improper Passing (Must Pass Safely) | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Improper Turn Leftor Right | $180.75 122.00 50.00 2,00 13.75 5.00
Interfering with an Officer | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 =
JunkCars | $170.00 122.00 50.00 . - -

Leaving Scene of Accident | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75
License Change of Address, 10 Days | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
License Driving Without License in Possession | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Light Law Failure to Dim | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 z
Light Law Headlights Required in Rain | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 =
Light Law-Motorcycle | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 =
Light Law Violation | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Limitation on Backing | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Littering (City Code) | $170.00 122.00 50.00 = = -
Motorcycle Helmet Required | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 -
Motorcycle Headlight On |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Muffler Law | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Noise Violation | $172.00 122.00 50.00 2.00 = =
Obedience to any Traffic Control Devices | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Obey Signal Approach of Train |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Obstruction to Driver's View | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00

Open Container (Beer/Whiskey) | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75
Overgrown Yard | $172.00 122.00 50.00 2,00 - =
Parking Prohibited Except Disabled | $173.00 122.00 50.00 2,00 1.00 -
Photo Enforcement Violation (Contested) |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Posting of Signs Illegally | $185.75 122.00 50.00 2,00 13.75 -
Registration-Address Incorrect |  $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Crossed Tags | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2,00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Driving Unregistered Vehicle | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Expired Tags | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Fail to Display | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Improper Display | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2,00 13.75 5.00
Registration-Misuse | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-No Certificate in Vehicle | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Registration-TN Required 30 Day Resident | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Returned Check Fee $ 50.00 - 50.00 - - -
Seat Belt Required (1st Offense) $ 35.00 5.00 - - 25.00 5.00
Seat Belt Required (2nd Offense) $ 55.00 - - 50.00 5.00
Speeding | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Stop Sign Violation | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Stop Sign Violation w/Accident | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
TextingWhile Driving | $ 60.00 122.00 50.00 - - -
Traffic Control Signals | $190.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Traffic Control Device | $1980.75 122.00 50.00 2.00 13.75 5.00




COURT FEES, FINES, AND COSTS TOTAL %ﬁg e SFTe iD STTa i’ d -
Trucks to be Equipped w/Rearview Mirror | $190.75 122.00 Lo.00 2.00 13.75 5.00
TurnSignals | $190.75 122.00 5100 2,00 13.75 5.00
Unauthorized Vehicle onRoad | $190.75 | 122.00 5600 2.00 13.75 5.00
Unlawful Hauling of Litter | $170.00 122.00 oo - - -
Voided Ticket s - - - - - -
Warning | § - - - - - -
Window Tint Violation | $190.75 | 122.00 50,00 2.00 13.75 5.00
Windshield Wipers Required | $185.75 122.00 50,00 2/00 13.75 -




For residential new construction, the following fees are for the inspections outlined below and

one failure/extra; any additional owner/contractor requested or re-inspections for

failures/insufficient work will be at a prepaid cost of $45.00 each.

Type of inspection

Set back/footer ditch

Poured concrete or insulated
pouring concrete foundation

Under slab plumbing

Rough framing/plumbing/mechanical

Covered insulation

Garage separation

Pre-electric

Final

When Conducted

Prior to footer/pier concrete being placed

After forming/reinforcing but before

Prior to covering the plumbing and/or basement
slab being placed

After all framing/fire blocking, rough in electrical,
plumbing and mechanical are complete but before
insulation is installed.

After insulation in walls, ceiling, floors which
will be covered by finishing products (sheetrock
or similar) is installed but before installation of
the finishing product.

If attached garage has living space above or a basement
garage, type X sheetrock is required on the ceiling,
inspection required after sheetrock is installed but
before it is taped.

After final approval by the electrical inspector

After the project including driveway, walk(s), and yard
is complete but before occupancy



Building Permits:

Base fee:

Residential Construction (single family):
(Includes houses, garages, additions and remodeling

to create living space from garages and/or
basements/attics) plus the following additions if applicable

If drive under or attached garage
under living spaces:
If plumbing under concrete slab
If poured concrete or insulated concrete foundation

Residential single-family REMODELING:
(Decks, retaining walls, porches, replacement
windows, structural changes/repairs)

Roofs

Owner/Contractor Built Storage Buildings,
Pools, Barns & Carports

$20

$0.10 per square foot of living space plus
$45 per inspection (minimum of 4 for new)
$45 per inspection (minimum of 2 all others)

$45 per inspection
$45 per inspection
$20 base + $45 per inspection = $65

$20 base + $45 per inspection = $65

$20 + $45 per inspection (minimum 2) = $110

(Building Permits are not required for prefabricated swimming pools that are less than 24 inches or 610 mm deep
and for temporary, portable swimming pools with a life expectancy of less than 6 months.)

Prefabricated Storage Buildings of 200 sq. ft
or less.

Plumbing permits:

Residential:
New Construction

Remodeling

Additional Cost

Any Additional inspections
Commercial:
Minimum fee

Fee for each fixture exceeding 10 (e.g. toilets, sinks,
bathtubs, showers, water heaters, separate hose bibs)

Additional inspections due to insufficient or
unacceptable work:

" $20 base fee

$20; First $1-5000 of cost
(material + labor)

$50: First $1-5000 of cost
(material + labor)

$10 per $1000 of cost over $5000; up to
max. of $100

$45 (for new or remodel)

$100

$5

$45



Mechanical including gas permits:

Residential:
New construction

Remodeling (fee for changes to heating/venting duct, air
conditioning, new or replacement ducts, air conditioners, heat pumps,
furnaces, wall heaters, space heaters, pool heaters, power/heating
boilers and other permanent equipment/fixtures)

Additional fee:

Additional inspection due to insufficient or unacceptable work

Commercial:

Minimum fee

Fee for changes to heating/venting duct, gas pipe; new or replacement ducts,
gas pipe, air conditioners, heat pumps, furnaces, wall heaters, space heaters,
pool heaters, power/heating boilers and other permanent equipment/fixtures)
first $1.00-$1,000.00 of cost-material and labor included in the $100.00
minimum.

Fee per $1,000 of costs $1000-$9,999
Fee per $1,000 of costs $10,000 and above

First $1-$1000 of cost (material + labor)
included in $100 min

Additional inspection due to insufficient or unacceptable
work

$20 first $1-5000 of cost
(material + labor)

$50 first $1-5000 of cost

(material + labor)

$10 per $1000 of cost exceeding
$5,000 up to a maximum of $100

$45

$100

$10

$5

$45

Multi-family residential and other business/commercial/industrial/institutional

Fees will be based on the estimated cost/valuation of the project as follows:

Inspection fee: $100 includes 5 inspections. Any inspection

thereafter $45 each

Total valuation Fee
$1,000 and less $20
$1,000 to 50,000 $20 for the first $1,000 plus $5 for each additional

thousand or fraction thereof, to and including

$50,000.



$50,000 to $100,000

$100,000 to $500,000

$500,000 and up

Moving Fee:

Demolition Fee:

Building Permit Penalties:

Refunds:

Stormwater basins

$265 for the first $50,000 plus $4 for each
additional thousand or fraction thereof, to and
including $100,000.

$465 for the first $100,000 plus $3 for each
additional thousand or fraction thereof, to and
including $500,000.

$1,660 for the first $500,000 plus $2 for each
additional thousand or fraction thereof.

$100 for moving of any building or structure

$100 for demolition of any commercial building or
structure.

$50 for demolition of any residential building to include
outbuildings and/or barns if demolished at the same time
as the residence.

$50 for demolition of outbuildings and/or barns.

Where work for which a permit is required by code is started
or proceeded prior to obtaining said permit, the fees herein
specified shall be doubled, but the payment of such double fee
shall not relieve any persons from fully complying with the
requirements of code in the execution of the work nor from
any other penalties prescribed.

Building permit fees, less a $20 administration fee, may be
refunded if a.) the permit is denied, or b.) the project is
canceled provided that: no work has commenced, no
inspection has taken place, and that application is made to the
Treasurer within six (6) months of the application for building
permit date.

$100 each + $100 per inspection (minimum of 1).

NOTE: This fee does not apply if the developer has paid the development fees for subdivisions.

Development fees:
(1) Subdivisions
(a) 5 Lots or Less
(2) Multifamily Housing Units
(3) Industrial, Commercial or
Institutional Sites

2" Driveway/curb cut fee:

$1,000 minimum charge for each phase of the
subdivision, plus $50 for each lot over 10 but less
than 40, $25 each lot over 40.

$50 per lot for 5 or less.

$250 min. + $50 per unit over five (5), (maximum of
$1,000 fee)

$5 per $1,000 of construction costs on permit
(maximum of $1,000 fee)

$30 if purchased with original building permit,
$50 if purchased after the building permit.



Grading permit:
Restricted (before stormwater installed) $150
Unrestricted (stormwater instalied) $50

Planning commission:
Public Hearing, Agenda Appearance $35
Variances/appeals single lots $35
Variances/appeals multi-residential $85
and/or commercial

Special called meeting fee $50
Floodplain plan review fee $100
Advertising Expense fee $25
Rezoning fee $200
Plan Review of Changes to

Cellular Telephone Towers $250

(Engineering costs in addition to
the initial fee will be paid by applicant)

Construction Board of Adjustment $250 per application
& Appeals Application Fee (Will be refunded if appeal is granted)
Mud/Silt/Debris Prevention, Clean-up, Repair Fees, per incident:
Service charge and Administration $250
fee
Any material or rental equipment used Cost+15%
The Cost of Equipment and Personnel Computed as Follows:
Backhoe and/or Bobcat $46 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Dump truck $82 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Pickup truck $16 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Fire truck $150 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Supervisory personnel $60 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Maintenance Worker $30 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Operator or Mechanic $40 per hour, 2 hour minimum

NOTE: For after-hours/weekends/holiday work the above costs will be at 1% times the above rate.

CLEANUP of overgrowth, rubbish, old appliances, $200 (and the actual cost of such lawn

mowing, removal of structures, etc.: cleanup & removal if contracted to a 3™
party by the Town; Landfill charges,
equipment charges, etc.) and the costs of
equipment and personnel as follows:

Backhoe or bobcat $46 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Loader $87 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Dozer $118 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Dump truck $82 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Ton truck $20 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Pickup truck $16 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Trailer S15 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Blower $15 per hour, 2 hour minimum
Riding mower $60 per hour, 2 hour minimum

Push mower S50 per hour, 2 hour minimum



Weed eater

Bush hog

Chainsaw

Supervisory personnel
Maintenance Worker
Operator or Mechanic

$45 per hour, 2 hour minimum
$60 per hour, 2 hour minimum
$50 per hour, 2 hour minimum
$60 per hour, 2 hour minimum
$30 per hour, 2 hour minimum
540 per hour, 2 hour minimum

Unsafe Building Fees:

ADMINISTRATIVE FEE (for Town causing $300 (and cost of material,

repair, alteration, or improvement): equipment, contractor, or rental plus
15%)

ADMINISTRATIVE FEE (for Town causing $300 (and cost of material,

structure to be vacated and closed): equipment, contractor, or rental plus
15%)

ADMINISTRATIVE FEE (for Town causing $300 (and cost of material,

structure to be removed or demolished):

SEWER

User Rates - Water Dept. Metered
(based on 90% usage)

User Rates - Metered Flow any source
other than First Utility District
(Based on 100% treated)

Tap Fee
Apartments, Suites & Car Wash Bays

Inspection Fee (initial)
Additional Inspection Fee
Additional Permit Fee
Accounting Fee

Dry Tap Fee

Un-metered Well Fee

Septic Trucks

Pool fill & top off

equipment, contractor, or rental plus
15%)

$43.88 on first 2,000 gallons
S 7.08 for each additional 1,000 gallons

$43.88 on first 2,000 gallons
S 7.08 for each additional 1,000 gallons

$3,500 minimum, up to actual cost for each connection
$2,500 for the first connection

Free

$13.50 each

$ 7.50 each

$120.00 per name change
$12.00 each

$325.00 each

$150.00 to discharge up to 2,000 gallons
$150.00 for each additional 2,000 gallons

1 fill up & top off sewer credits per home per year



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,

This Resolution was duly considered and adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, in and
for the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, this 28 day of August 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:

Tyler Williams, Town Recorder



MOUNT CARMEL

%/:‘kcc Zo pat o r 4aeld

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-656 Participation in
Public Entity Partners Property Conservation Grant

SUMMARY:

The Town’s insurance provider, Public Entity Partners, offers a Property Conservation
Grant each year to help municipalities fund projects to help secure town assets.

The Town recently installed an access control system for City Hall. This grant would help
cover a portion of the cost of the system.

PEP will assess the application and determine our grant amount based on our amount of
insurance coverage.

This resolution is required by PEP to show the Town’s intent to participate.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

Currently unknown. 50/50 matching grant.
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval.
ATTACHMENTS:
Resolution No. 25-656



MOUNT CARMEL

\_’7«,0/1«'(. 7o ,o/a?f(/auw, deal?i

RESOLUTION 25-656

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE PUBLIC ENTITY PARTNERS
PROPERTY CONSERVATION MATCHING GRANT PROGRAM

WHEREAS, the citizens of the Town of Mount Carmel have entrusted this administration with
the care and custody of city-owned property; and

WHEREAS, all efforts shall be made to protect city-owned property from various perils that
may arise for the Town of Mount Carmel; and

WHEREAS, Public Entity Partners seeks to encourage members with property coverage to
develop and implement a property conservation program by offering the PROPERTY
CONSERVATION MATCHING GRANT PROGRAM,;

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel now seeks to participate in this important program.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting at
Mount Carmel, Tennessee, on this 28" day of August, 2025, that:

SECTION 1. That the Town of Mount Carmel is hereby authorized to submit application for
the PROPERTY CONSERVATION MATCHING GRANT PROGRAM through the Loss
Control Department of Public Entity Partners.

SECTION 2. That the Town of Mount Carmel is further authorized to provide a matching sum
for any monies provided by this grant.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately, the public welfare requiring it.

ADOPTED this 28" day of August, 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:
Tyler Williams, City Recorder




MOUNT CARMEL

A Yz lace To put oyt gaodd

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-657 Participation in

National Opioid Settlement

SUMMARY:

The opioid crisis has had a devastating impact on communities across the United States,
including the Town of Mount Carmel. In response, numerous lawsuits were filed against
opioid manufacturers, distributors, and retailers. These lawsuits have resulted in
nationwide settlement agreements intended to provide financial resources for opioid
remediation efforts.

The State of Tennessee, through the Office of the Attorney General, has negotiated
participation in these settlements and developed a Tennessee State-Subdivision Opioid
Abatement Agreement to ensure equitable distribution and use of funds among state and
local governments.

The resolution authorizes the Mayor to execute all necessary documents to participate in
the Settlement.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

Currently unknown.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval.
ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution No. 25-657



MOUNT CARMEL

0{,0/(1(:& 7o ,0/:2‘(/&1«1", Aealt

RESOLUTION 25-657

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE PURDUE PHARMA L.P. AND SACKLER FAMILY
NATIONAL OPIOID SETTLEMENT

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel recognizes the devastating impact of the opioid crisis
on its residents and community; and

WHEREAS, a proposed nationwide settlement agreement has been reached with Purdue Pharma
L.P. and members of the Sackler family, which includes both an Estate Settlement and a Direct
Settlement, as part of Purdue’s bankruptcy proceedings; and

WHEREAS, the State of Tennessee has elected to participate in the Direct Settlement, thereby
enabling eligible subdivisions within the state to also participate and receive settlement funds;
and

WHEREAS, the Direct Settlement provides for monetary compensation to participating
subdivisions and includes injunctive relief to prevent future opioid-related harm; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel has received notice of eligibility to participate in the
Direct Settlement and must affirmatively opt in by signing and returning the required
documentation by September 30, 2025; and

WHEREAS, participation in the Direct Settlement will allow the Town of Mount Carmel to
receive funds to support opioid abatement and recovery efforts within the community;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting at
Mount Carmel, Tennessee, on this 28" day of August, 2025, that:

SECTION 1. That the Town of Mount Carmel hereby elects to participate in the Purdue Pharma
L.P. and Sackler Family National Opioid Direct Settlement.

SECTION 2. That the Mayor, or his designee, is authorized to execute and submit all necessary
documentation to effectuate participation in the Settlement, including the Participation Form and

any other required materials.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately, the public welfare requiring it.

1of2



ADOPTED this 28™ day of August, 2025.

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:
Tyler Williams, City Recorder

20f2



MOUNT CARMEL

\%/ﬂﬁme Zo pat lo w9t pacld

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Acceptance of Bid for FY26 Street

Paving- Glass Machinery & Excavation, Inc.

SUMMARY:

Sealed bids for FY26 street paving were opened on Friday, August 8, 2025. Two bidders
participated.

Glass Machinery & Excavating, Inc. was the apparent low bidder, with a total project cost
of $394,567.56.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration/Public Works

FISCAL IMPACT:

$394,567.56, or less depending on project scope.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval of the low bid.

ATTACHMENTS:

Tabulation of Bids: ITB # 25-001 Mount Carmel Street Paving Project FY26



MOUNT CARMEL

0(/;/11(-(. 7o pat o n geals

TABULATION OF BIDS

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE

August 8, 2025-2:00 PM

ITB # 25-001- MOUNT CARMEL STREET PAVING PROJECT- FY26

Glass Summers-
STREET MEASUREMENT Machinery & | Taylor, Inc.
Excavation,
Inc.

Walnut Street 1540’ by 20’ $73,191.27 | $92,475.00
Holston Drive 700 by 14’ $26,696.23 $39,785.00
Seven Oaks Dr Cul-De-Sac $23,814.60 $21,243.75
W. Ellis Ln (242 Ellis to 1942’ by 18’ $77,471.78 $110,694.00
Hammond Ave)
Hammond Ave. (City Limitto | 245’ by 17 $17,158.40 $33,828.75
1304)
Hammond Ave at 1118 166’ by 18’ $19,208.89 $26,716.25
Hammond
Independence 1047 to east of | 1464’ by 20° $64,853.63 $90,326.25
1212
Aspen Court 952’ by 24’ $52,254.64 $66,675.00
Valley Crest 165-188 662’ by 25’ $39,918.12 $60,260.00

TOTAL: | $394,567.56 | $542,004.00

Recommend acceptance of the low bid, indicated above.

Yl

Ty{eﬁﬂ/lams Assistant City Manager/CFO




MOUNT CARMEL

9@/)6«!6 % put o 1t 4078

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: August 28, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: Acceptance of Bid for Fire/Police

Parking Lot Paving- Watts Paving & Maintenance, Inc.

SUMMARY:

Sealed bids for Fire/Police Station Parking Lot Paving were opened on Friday, August 8,
2025. One bidder participated. Due to the low number of bids and estimated cost in excess
of budget, the project was re-bid.

The second round of bids was opened on Friday, August 22, 2025. Two bidders
participated.

Watts Paving & Maintenance, Inc. was the apparent low bidder, with a total project cost of
$196,583.00

REQUESTING DEPARTMENI(S):

Administration/Fire/Police

FISCAL IMPACT:

196,583.00

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval of the low bid.

ATTACHMENTS:

Tabulation of Bids: ITB # 25-002 Mount Carmel Fire & Police Station Parking Lot Paving
Tabulation of Bids: ITB # 25-003 Mount Carmel Fire & Police Station Parking Lot Paving



MOUNT CARMEL

Q{p/m'r- Yo putdatun 1oc?y

TABULATION OF BIDS
TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE
August 8, 2025- 2:30 PM
ITB # 25-002- MOUNT CARMEL FIRE & POLICE STATION PARKING LOT PAVING

Location: 213 Hammond Ave, Mount Carmel, TN 37645

Parking Lot

1,500 CY of excavation for drainage
Demolition of the building slab

6” base stone installation (825 Tons)
4” 307 A mix installation (550 Tons)

Parking lot striping

Concrete Precast Wheel Stops

Summers-Taylor, Inc. $339,525.00

Recommend re-bid due to low number of bids and cost in excess of budget.

%Wzm

llams Assistant City Manager/CFO




MOUNT CARMEL

%p/n(‘a 70 /ll-?.'(/ﬂﬂlfl deels

TABULATION OF BIDS

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE

August 22, 2025- 10:00 AM

ITB # 25-003- MOUNT CARMEL FIRE & POLICE STATION PARKING LOT PAVING

Location: 213 Hammond Ave, Mount Carmel, TN 37645

Parking Lot

Demolition of the building slab

Parking lot striping

Concrete Precast Wheel Stops

1,500 CY of excavation for drainage

6” base stone installation (825 Tons)
4” 307 A mix installation (550 Tons)

Glass Machinery & Excavating, Inc.

$235,000.00

Watts Paving & Maintenance, Inc.

$196,583.00

Recommend acceptance of the low bid, indicated above.

A

Tylezﬁﬂ(lams Assistant City Manager/CFO




